
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 
AGENDA 

 

7.00 pm 
Thursday 

25 February 2021 
VIRTUAL MEETING 

 
Members 8: Quorum 4 
 
COUNCILLORS: 
 

Conservative Group 
(4) 

Residents’ Group 
(1) 

Upminster & Cranham  
Residents’ Group 

(1) 

Dilip Patel (Chairman) 
Timothy Ryan (Vice-Chair) 

Ray Best 
Maggie Themistocli 

 

Reg Whitney 
 

Linda Hawthorn 

Independent Residents 
Group 

(1) 

Labour Group 
(1) 

 

Graham Williamson Keith Darvill  

 
 

For information about the meeting please contact: 
Taiwo Adeoye - 01708 433079 

taiwo.adeoye@onesource.co.uk 
 

To register to speak at the meeting please call 01708 433100 
before Tuesday 23 February 2021 

 

Public Document Pack



Strategic Planning Committee, 25 February 2021 

 
 

 

 



Strategic Planning Committee, 25 February 2021 

 
 

 



Strategic Planning Committee, 25 February 2021 

 
 

 

AGENDA ITEMS 
 
1 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
  

The Chairman will make his announcement including the protocol for the meeting 
during the Covid-19 pandemic restrictions. 
 
Applications for Decision 
 
I would like to remind members of the public that Councillors have to make decisions 
on planning applications strictly in accordance with planning principles. 
 
I would also like to remind members of the public that decisions may not always be 
popular, but they should respect the need for Councillors to take decisions that will 
stand up to external scrutiny or accountability.  
 
 

2 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND ANNOUNCEMENT OF SUBSTITUTE 
MEMBERS  

 
 (if any) - receive. 

 
 

3 DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS  
 
 Members are invited to disclose any interest in any of the items on the agenda at this 

point in the meeting. 
 
Members may still disclose any interest in an item at any time prior to the 
consideration of the matter. 
 
 

4 PROTOCOL ON THE OPERATION OF STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 
MEETINGS DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC RESTRICTIONS (Pages 1 - 6) 

 
 Protocol attached to be noted by the Committee 

 
 

5 MINUTES (Pages 7 - 10) 
 
 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 

28 January 2021 and to authorise the Chairman to sign them. 
 
 

6 APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION (Pages 11 - 14) 
 
 Report attached. 

 
 



Strategic Planning Committee, 25 February 2021 

 
 

 

7 P1125.20 - RAINHAM RECREATION GROUND, VIKING WAY, RAINHAM, RM13 
9YG (Pages 15 - 42) 

 
 Report attached. 

 
 

8 P1464.20 - NAPIER HOUSE AND NEW PLYMOUTH HOUSE, DUNEDIN ROAD, 
RAINHAM RM13 8LD (Pages 43 - 58) 

 
 Report attached. 

 
 

9 QUARTERLY PLANNING PERFORMANCE - UPDATE (Pages 59 - 64) 
 
 Report attached. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
  Andrew Beesley 

Head of Democratic Services 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

LONDON BOROUGH OF HAVERING 
 

PROTOCOL ON THE OPERATION OF STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 
MEEETINGS DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC RESTRICTIONS 

 

1. Introduction 

In accordance with the Local Authority and Police Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of 

Local Authority and Police and Crime Panels Meetings (England and Wales) Regulations 

2020, all Strategic Planning Committee hearings held during the Covid-19 restrictions will 

take place using a ‘virtual’ format. This document aims to give details on how the meetings 

will take place and establish some rules of procedure to ensure that all parties find the 

meetings productive. 

 

2. Prior to the Hearing 

Once the date for a meeting has been set, an electronic appointment will be sent to all 

relevant parties. This will include a link to access the virtual meeting as well as guidance on 

the use of the technology involved. 

 

3. Format 

For the duration of the Covid-19 restrictions period, all Strategic Planning Committee 

meetings will be delivered through conference call, using Zoom software. This can be 

accessed using a PC, laptop or mobile/landline telephone etc. and the instructions sent with 

meeting appointments will cover how to do this. 

 

4. Structure of the Meeting  

Although held in a virtual format, Strategic Planning Committee Meetings will follow the 

standard procedure with the following principal stages. Committee Members may ask 

questions of any party at any time. Questions are however, usually taken after each person 

has spoken.  

 

 The Planning Officer presents their report (no time limit). 

 Objectors to the application make their representations. Parties who are speaking 
should not repeat the information, which they have already given in writing in their 
representation. However, they will be able to expand on the written information given, 
provided the information remains relevant (5 minutes per registered objector). 

 The applicant responds to the representations made (5 minutes). 

 The Councillor who has called in the application (5 minutes). 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



 

 

 Ward Councillors for the area affected by the application (5 minutes per Councillor). 

 The Planning Officer will then present a summary of the material planning 
considerations (no time limit). 

 The Planning Committee members will then debate the item. 

 The Clerk will ask members of the Committee to indicate which way they wish to 
vote and the Clerk will announce the decision of the Committee.  

 
All speakers and attendees, both Councillors and members of the public, are welcome to 
remain on the Zoom call until the conclusion of the meeting. The meeting will also be 
webcast so that it can be viewed by non-participants. 

 
 
5. Technology Issues 

An agenda setting out the items for the meeting will be issued in advance, to all parties in 

accordance with statutory timetables. This will include details of the applications together 

with all representations on the matter. The agenda will also be published on the Council’s 

website – www.havering.gov.uk in the normal way. 

All parties should be aware that the sheer volume of virtual meetings now taking place 

across the country has placed considerable strain upon broadband network infrastructure. As 

a result, Zoom meetings may experience intermittent faults whereby participants lose contact 

for short periods of time before reconnecting to the call. The guidance below explains how 

the meeting is to be conducted, including advice on what to do if participants cannot hear the 

speaker and etiquette of participants during the call. 

Members and the public will be encouraged to use any Zoom video conferencing facilities 

provided by the Council to attend a meeting remotely. If this is not possible, attendance may 

be through an audio link or by other electronic means. 

Remote access for members of the public and Members who are not attending to participate 

in the meeting, together with access for the Press, will be provided via a webcast of the 

meeting at www.havering.gov.uk. 

 

If the Chairman is made aware that the meeting is not accessible to the public through 
remote means, due to any technological or other failure of provision, then the Chair shall 
temporarily adjourn the meeting immediately. If the provision of access through remote 
means cannot be restored within a reasonable period, then the remaining business will be 
considered at a time and date fixed by the Chairman. If he or she does not fix a date, the 
remaining business will be considered at the next scheduled ordinary meeting. 
 
 

6. Management of Remote Meetings for Members  

 
The Chairman will normally confirm at the outset and at any reconvening of a Strategic 
Planning Committee meeting that they can see and hear all participating Members. Any 
Member participating remotely should also confirm at the outset and at any reconvening of 
the meeting that they can see and hear the proceedings and the other participants. 

Page 2

http://www.havering.gov.uk/
http://www.havering.gov.uk/


 

 

  
The attendance of Members at the meeting will be recorded by the Democratic Services 
Officer. The normal quorum requirements for meetings as set out in the Council’s 
Constitution will also apply to a remote meeting.  
 
If a connection to a Member is lost during a meeting of the Strategic Planning Committee, the 
Chair will stop the meeting to enable the connection to be restored. If the connection cannot 
be restored within a reasonable time, the meeting will proceed, but the Member who was 
disconnected will not be able to vote on the matter under discussion, as they would not have 
heard all the facts.  
 
 

7. Remote Attendance of the Public  

 
Any member of the public participating in a meeting remotely in exercise of their right to 
speak at a Strategic Planning Committee or other meeting must meet the same criteria as 
members of the Committee (outlined above) in terms of being able to access and, where 
permitted, speak at the meeting. The use of video conferencing technology for the meeting 
will facilitate this and guidance on how to access the meeting remotely will be supplied by the 
clerk.  

 

8. Etiquette at the meeting 

 
For some participants, this will be their first virtual meeting. In order to make the hearing 

productive for everyone, the following rules must be adhered to and etiquette observed: 

 The meeting will be presided over by the Chairman who will invite participants to 

speak individually at appropriate points. All other participants will have their 

microphones muted by the Clerk until invited by the Chairman to speak; 

 If invited to contribute, participants should make their statement, then wait until invited 

to speak again if required; 

 If it is possible, participants should find a quiet location to participate in the Zoom 

meeting where they will not be disturbed as background noise can affect participants. 

 The person speaking should not be spoken over or interrupted and other participants 

will normally be muted whilst someone is speaking. If there are intermittent 

technological faults during the meeting then the speaker will repeat from the point 

where the disruption started. Whilst intermittent disruption is frustrating, it is important 

that all participants remain professional and courteous. 

 

9. Meeting Procedures  
 
Democratic Services Officers will facilitate the meeting. Their role will be to control 
conferencing technology employed for remote access and attendance and to administer the 
public and Member interaction, engagement and connections on the instruction of the 
Chairman.  

Page 3



 

 

 
The Council has put in place a technological solution that will enable Members participating 
in meetings remotely to indicate their wish to speak via this solution.  
 
The Chairman will follow the rules set out in the Council’s Constitution when determining who 
may speak, as well as the order and priority of speakers and the content and length of 
speeches in the normal way.  
 
The Chairman, at the beginning of the meeting, will explain the protocol for Member and 
public participation and the rules of debate. The Chairman’s ruling during the debate will be 
final.  
 
Members are asked to adhere to the following etiquette during remote attendance of the  
meeting:  
 

 Committee Members are asked to join the meeting no later than fifteen minutes before 
the start to allow themselves and Democratic Services Officers the opportunity to test 
the equipment. 

 Any camera (video-feed) should show a non-descript background or, where possible, 
a virtual background and members should be careful to not allow exempt or 
confidential papers to be seen in the video-feed.  

 Rather than raising one’s hand or rising to be recognised or to speak, Members should 
avail themselves of the remote process for requesting to be heard and use the ‘raise 
hand’ function in the participants field. 

 Only speak when invited to by the Chair. 

 Only one person may speak at any one time. 

 When referring to a specific report, agenda page, or slide, participants should mention 
the report, page number, or slide so that all members have a clear understanding of 
what is being discussed at all times  

 
The Chairman will explain, at the relevant point of the meeting, the procedure for participation 
by registered public objectors, which will reflect the procedures outlined above. Members of 
the public must adhere to this procedure otherwise; they may be excluded from the meeting.  
 
 

For voting, the Democratic Services Officer will ask Members to indicate their vote – 
either FOR, AGAINST or ABSTAIN, once debate on an application has concluded.  

 

The Democratic Services Officer will clearly announce the result of the vote and the 
Chairman will then move on to the next agenda item.  

  
 
Any Member participating in a remote meeting who declares a disclosable pecuniary interest, 
or other declarable interest, in any item of business that would normally require them to leave 
the room, must also leave the remote meeting. The Democratic Services Officer or meeting 
facilitator, who will also invite the relevant Member by link, email or telephone to re-join the 
meeting at the appropriate time, using the original meeting invitation, will confirm the 
departure. 

Page 4



 

 

 
 
 

 
10. After the Hearing - Public Access to Meeting Documentation following the 

meeting  

Members of the public may access minutes, decision and other relevant documents through 
the Council’s website. www.havering.gov.uk 
 

For any further information on the meeting, please contact taiwo.adeoye@onesource.co.uk, 

tel: 01708 433079. 

 

Page 5

http://www.havering.gov.uk/
mailto:taiwo.adeoye@onesource.co.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 

STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 
VIRTUAL MEETING 

28 January 2021 (7.00  - 9.30 pm) 
 
Present: 
 
COUNCILLORS                   8 
 
Conservative Group 
 

Dilip Patel (Chairman), Timothy Ryan (Vice-Chair), 
Ray Best and Maggie Themistocli 
 

Residents’ Group 
 

Reg Whitney 
 

Upminster & Cranham 
Residents’ Group 

Linda Hawthorn 

Independent Residents 
Group 

Graham Williamson 
 

Labour Group 
 

Keith Darvill 
 

 
 

 
85 PROTOCOL ON THE OPERATION OF STRATEGIC PLANNING 

COMMITTEE MEETINGS DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC 
RESTRICTIONS  
 
The Committee considered the report and RESOLVED to note the contents 
of the report. 
 
 

86 DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS  
 
There were no disclosures of interest. 
 
 

87 MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 9 December 2020 were agreed as a 
correct record and would be signed by the Chairman at a later date. 
 
 

88 ST GEORGES HOSPITAL (RETAINED NHS LAND), SUTTONS LANE, 
HORNCHURCH  
 
The Committee received a developer presentation from the Steve Walters, 
SW Planning, Martina Cardi, Bryden Wood Architects, Louise Pearce, ARC 
Landscape Architects, Paul McGeary, Head of Estates, NELFT, Keith 

Public Document Pack

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



Strategic Planning Committee, 28 January 
2021 

 

 

 

Flaxman, Project Director, Paul O'Neill, Bryden Wood Architects and Tony 
Hogger, Transport Planning Consultants. 
 
The main issues raised by Members for further consideration prior to 
submission of a planning application were: 
 

 The possibility of ‘rounding’ the corners of the building. 

 A request that the landscaping/screening to Hacton Drive be 
decent/robust and have longevity once planted. 

 A wish to understand the security measures that would in place on the 
site. 

 Concern that the amount of car parking proposed was not sufficient to 
ensure that patients have somewhere to park on arrival. 

 A wish to understand the car parking management strategy that would 
be in place post completion.  

 Suggestion to investigate an increase to the bus services to the site. 

 Detail assurances on the carbon footprint of the building and a request to 
incorporate a green roof if possible. 

 
 

89 FORMER ICE RINK SITE, ROM VALLEY WAY, ROMFORD  
 
The Committee received a developer presentation from the Robert Whitton 
(Chairman Impact Capital Group), Nick Shattock (CEO Impact 
Developments, Karen Jones (Planning Consultant RPS), Scott Lawrie 
(Architect Ethos), Joanna Ede  (Townscape Turley), Pierre Chin-Dickey 
(Landscape McFarlane), Alec Philpott (Transport – Mayer Brown) and Kay 
Blair.  
 
The main issues raised by Members for further consideration prior to 
submission of a planning application were: 
 

 A continued concern about the unit mix for the scheme and the low level 
of 3 bed units with reassurance that the mix proposed was right for the 
borough’s needs. 

 Member would welcome a small uplift in 3 bed units. 

 Members sought clarification if there was a market need/local demand 
for intergenerational living. 

 A wish to understand how the Oldchurch Park footpath would be lit after 
dark. 

 A wish to understand the parameter plans for the outline component of 
the scheme. 

 Whether there was the potential to lower the heights of the 12 storey 
blocks. 

 What was the economic lifespan of the buildings? Would they appear in 
order visually in several years’ time? 

 Who would manage the site post occupation? What scale of the service 
charges would apply? 

Page 8



Strategic Planning Committee, 28 January 
2021 

 

 

 

 Further details were sought about nearby existing school capacity to 
ensure that sufficient school places would be available to meet the child 
yield for the scheme. 

 Whether there was the opportunity to increase car parking. 

 What was the refuse management strategy for the scheme? 

 A wish to ensure modelling was undertaken to understand the impact of 
the development upon the junction where buses turn into Queens 
Hospital. What will be the impact of the development? 

 Members sought further information regarding management of site and 
related service charges.  

 
 

90 QUARTERLY PLANNING PERFORMANCE - UPDATE  
 
The Committee considered the quarterly reporting of performance to the 
planning committees and RESOLVED to note the contents of the report. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Chairman 
 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



Applications for Decision 

 

Introduction 

1. In this part of the agenda are reports on strategic planning applications for 

determination by the committee.  

2. Although the reports are set out in order on the agenda, the Chair may reorder 

the agenda on the night. Therefore, if you wish to be present for a specific 

application, you need to be at the meeting from the beginning. 

3. The following information and advice only applies to reports in this part of the 

agenda. 

Advice to Members 

Material planning considerations 

4. The Committee is required to consider planning applications against the 

development plan and other material planning considerations. 

5. The development plan for Havering comprises the following documents: 

 London Plan March 2016 

 Core Strategy and Development Control Policies (2008) 

 Site Allocations (2008) 

 Romford Area Action Plan (2008) 

 Joint Waste Development Plan (2012) 

6. Decisions must be taken in accordance with section 70(2) of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 and section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

requires the Committee to have regard to the provisions of the Development 

Plan, so far as material to the application; any local finance considerations, so 

far as material to the application; and any other material considerations. Section 

38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the 

Committee to make its determination in accordance with the Development Plan 

unless material planning considerations support a different decision being taken. 

7. Under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990, in considering whether to grant planning permission for development which 

affects listed buildings or their settings, the local planning authority must have 

special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any 

features of architectural or historic interest it possesses. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



8. Under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990, in considering whether to grant planning permission for development which 

affects a conservation area, the local planning authority must pay special 

attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 

appearance of the conservation area. 

9. Under Section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, in considering 

whether to grant planning permission for any development, the local planning 

authority must ensure, whenever it is appropriate, that adequate provision is 

made, by the imposition of conditions, for the preservation or planting of trees. 

10. In accordance with Article 35 of the Development Management Procedure Order 

2015, Members are invited to agree the recommendations set out in the reports, 

which have been made based on the analysis of the scheme set out in each 

report. This analysis has been undertaken on the balance of the policies and any 

other material considerations set out in the individual reports. 

Non-material considerations 

11. Members are reminded that other areas of legislation cover many aspects of the 

development process and therefore do not need to be considered as part of 

determining a planning application. The most common examples are: 

 Building Regulations deal with structural integrity of buildings, the physical 

performance of buildings in terms of their consumption of energy, means of 

escape in case of fire, access to buildings by the Fire Brigade to fight fires 

etc. 

 Works within the highway are controlled by Highways Legislation. 

 Environmental Health covers a range of issues including public nuisance, 

food safety, licensing, pollution control etc. 

 Works on or close to the boundary are covered by the Party Wall Act. 

 Covenants and private rights over land are enforced separately from 

planning and should not be considered. 

Local financial considerations 

12. In accordance with Policy 6.5 of the London Plan (2015) the Mayor of London 

has introduced a London wide Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to fund 

CrossRail. 

13. Other forms of necessary infrastructure (as defined in the CIL Regulations) and 

any mitigation of the development that is necessary will be secured through a 

section106 agreement. Where these are necessary, it will be explained and 

specified in the agenda reports. 

 

Page 12



Public speaking and running order 

14. The Council’s Constitution allows for public speaking on these items in 

accordance with the Constitution and the Chair’s discretion. 

15. The items on this part of the agenda will run as follows: 

a. Officer introduction of the development 

b. Registered Objector(s) speaking slot (5 minutes) 

c. Responding Applicant speaking slot (5 minutes) 

d. Councillor(s) speaking slots (5 minutes) 

e. Cabinet Member Speaking slot (5 minutes) 

f. Officer presentation of the material planning considerations 

g. Committee questions and debate 

h. Committee decision 

 

Late information 

16. Any relevant material received since the publication of this part of the agenda, 

concerning items on it, will be reported to the Committee in the Update Report. 

Recommendation 

17. The Committee to take any decisions recommended in the attached report(s). 

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Strategic Planning 

Committee 

25 February 2021 

 
 

Application Reference:   P1125.20 

 

Location: Rainham Recreation Ground, Viking Way, 

Rainham, RM13 9YG 

 

Ward:      Rainham & Wennington 

 

Description: Erection of a single storey building to 

provide a new leisure centre comprising: 

swimming pool, gym, fitness/dance 

studios and associated changing 

facilities; together with alterations to the 

existing layout of the remaining park 

area, including relocation of existing play 

and outdoor gym equipment. 

Case Officer:    John Kaimakamis 

 

Reason for Report to Committee: The application is a significant 

development which has been submitted 

by the London Borough of Havering. The 

Local Planning Authority is considering 

the application in its capacity as local 

planning authority and without regard to 

the identity of the Applicant. 

 
 

1 SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 

1.1 There are no in principle objections to the proposals and through the application 

of conditions and a legal agreement officers are able to secure a good level of 

design and the use of high quality materials. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



1.2 The approach to site layout, height and massing represents an acceptable 

approach given the location of the site. This initial scale and design was also 

reviewed by Members of the Strategic Planning Committee and the Council’s 

Quality Review Panel.  

1.3 The development would make an important contribution to the community with 

the provision of a new leisure facility, which also includes an improvement to 

the quality of the open space surrounding the new building.  

1.4 Although there is an overall loss of open space as a result of the proposal, there 

are good standards of overall open space provision in the vicinity of the site and 

the proposal is accompanied by extensive landscape proposals to improve the 

existing conditions of the site. On balance, it is considered that the loss of open 

space accords with relevant planning policy and that any harm identified with 

the proposal is outweighed by the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development. 

1.5 The recommended conditions and Heads of Terms would secure future policy 

compliance by the applicant on the site and ensure any unacceptable 

development impacts are mitigated. Therefore officers consider that all matters 

have now been sufficiently addressed and the application is recommended for 

approval. 

 

2 RECOMMENDATION 

 

2.1 That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to:  

  

a) No objection consultation response from the Environment Agency; 

 

b) The prior completion of a legal agreement to secure the following planning 

obligations 

 

- 70% CO2 and Carbon offset fund contribution in respect of shortfall of the 

30% required to achieve a 100% reduction in carbon dioxide emissions 

compared to Part L of the Building Regulations 2013, such sum calculated 

at sixty pounds (£60.00) per tonne that falls below the 100% threshold, for 

a period of 30 years, duly Indexed;  

- The Developer/Owner to pay the Council’s reasonable legal costs 

associated with the Legal Agreement prior to the completion of the 

agreement irrespective of whether the agreement is completed.  

- Payment of the appropriate planning obligations monitoring fee prior to the 

completion of the agreement. 

- All contribution sums shall include interest to the due date of expenditure 

and all contribution sums to be subject to indexation from the date of 

Page 16



completion of the Section 106 agreement to the date of receipt by the 

Council.  

 

2.2 That the Assistant Director Planning is delegated authority to negotiate the legal 

agreement indicated above. 

 

2.3 That the Assistant Director Planning is delegated authority to issue the planning 

permission and impose conditions and informatives to secure the following 

matters: 

 

Conditions 

1. Time Limit 

2. In Accordance With Approved Drawings 

3. Material Samples (including entrance details, mortar, edge, canopies etc) 

4. Hard and Soft Landscaping  

5. Landscape Maintenance Strategy 

6. Secured by Design  

7. Boundary Treatments including defensible spaces.  

8. Fire Strategy  

9. Energy Strategy Compliance 

10. Air Quality Neutral Assessment 

11. Dust Risk Assessment  

12. External Lighting Scheme  

13. Noise Protection Buildings  

14. Noise Protection Plant Machinery  

15. Gas Protection Measures   

16. Non-Road Mobile Machinery 

17. Noise and Vibration Scheme 

18. Surface Water Drainage Strategy   

19. Ecology Appraisal 

20. Biodiversity Method Statement and Enhancement Strategy 

21. Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDs) 

22. Water efficiency 

23. Vehicle Cleansing  

24. Cycle Parking Management Plan 

25. Construction Method/Management Statement  

26. Delivery and Servicing Plan  

27. Travel Plan 

28. Construction Hours (8am to 6pm Mon-Fri, 8am to 1pm Sat, none Sunday 

and Bank Holidays)  

29. Refuse and Recycling Details (including Management and on site 

provision) 

Page 17



 

Informatives 

1. Changes to the public highway 

2. Highway legislation 

3. Temporary use of the public highway 

4. Adoption of roads 

5. Surface water management 

6. Highway approval required  

7. Secure by design  

8.  Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). 

9.  Planning obligations  

           10. NPPF positive and proactive 

           11. Thames Water Groundwater Risk Management Permit 

  

3. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 

 

3.1 The site comprises the Rainham Recreation Ground (owned by the Council), 

which is located on the north side of Viking Way. 

   

3.2  Rainham Recreation Ground is designated as Public Open Space, and 

comprises: open grassland used for informal recreation and play, together with 

a children’s play facility, outdoor gym and enclosed ball court. The western 

boundary of the Recreation Ground is lined with a variety of small trees and 

shrubs.  

 

3.3  Adjoining the west of the Recreation Ground is a Council-operated pay-and-

display car park (freehold owned by Tesco) which provides 32 spaces including 

3 disabled access spaces. It is understood that this car park is not heavily used.  

 

3.4 Adjacent to the west of the Recreation Ground and pay-and-display car park is 

a very large private commercial car park associated with the Tesco Extra 

supermarket. The public can park for free in this car park for up to 3 hours.  

 

3.5 To the north of the site runs the River Ingrebourne. A footpath through the 

Recreation Ground provides pedestrian access to the river area. Due to 

proximity to the river, the site lies with Flood Zone 3a & 2.  

 

3.6 Adjoining the east of the Recreation Ground is the Rainham Village Primary 

School and Children’s Centre, which comprises single storey buildings and 

large open tarmac play areas.  

 

3.7 To the south of the site is Viking Way (a single directional carriageway) which 

connects the roundabout junction of Bridge Road and Lamson Road (to the 

Page 18



west) to Upminster Road South (to the east) and provides access to the Tesco 

supermarket.  

 

3.8 On the southern side of Viking Way is a small area of open grassland with a 

pubic footpath, providing connection for pedestrians from Tesco supermarket 

and the north, to Upminster Road South, heading towards the centre of 

Rainham Village. South of the grassland is a small two-storey terrace of 10 

houses which front Upminster Road South.  

 

3.9 The historic centre of Rainham Village and the Rainham Conservation Area are 

located to the south of the site. The northern boundary of the conservation area 

extends close to the south of the site. The conservation area is centred around 

the Grade I listed Norman Church of St Helen & St Giles. Views of the church 

tower are protected as the setting of the Grade I listed building and the setting 

of the conservation area.  

 

3.10 The site is located within the boundary of Rainham Town Centre and is covered 

by the Specific Site Allocation SSA16 for Rainham Central.  

 

4 PROPOSAL  

  

4.1 The application seeks planning permission for the erection of a single storey 

leisure centre building located on the west side of Rainham Recreation Ground 

to the north of Viking Way.  

 

4.2 The building would provide a swimming pool, gym and fitness/dance studios, 

together with associated changing facilities.  

 

4.3 The proposal includes landscaping and reconfiguration of the remaining park 

area, including relocation of the existing play and outdoor gym equipment.  

 

4.4 Staff and service user parking, including disabled parking, is proposed to be 

provided within the adjacent Council-operated pay-and-display car park located 

to the west of the site.  

 

4.5 The building would be accessed from the south off Viking Way.  

 

4.6 The building would be serviced from the northwest corner via the adjacent 

Tesco car park.  

 

5 PLANNING HISTORY 

 

5.1 There is no recent relevant planning history that relates to the current proposals 

at the site.  

Page 19



 
6 STATUTORY CONSULTATION RESPONSE 

 

6.1 A summary of consultation response are detailed below: 

 

 Environment Agency: No comments received.   

 

 Thames Water: No objection subject to informatives. 

 

 London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority: No comments 

received.  

 

 LBH Environmental Health (Land Contamination, noise, air quality): 

No objection subject to conditions governing contaminated land, air quality 

neutral, non-road mobile machinery, noise and sound insulation. 

 

 LBH Highways: No objection subject to conditions governing works to the 

public footpath, highways works and vehicle cleansing.  

 

 LBH Refuse Officer: The business should have a suitable waste 

collection/contract to meet the requirements of the business.  

 

 LBH Flood and Drainage Officer: No objection subject to further details 

regarding drainage being secured by condition.    

 

7 COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT 

 

7.1 In accordance with planning legislation, the developer has consulted the local 

community on these proposals as part of the pre-application process. 

 

7.2  Local residents were invited to give their views on their preferred location for 

the proposed development. An online survey was made available from 31st 

October 2019 to 17th November 2019. This is discussed further in section 10 of 

this report. 

 

7.3 Drop in sessions were also held at Rainham Library on 11th and 15th November 

2019.    

 

7.4 Discussions were also held with local councillors.  

 

8 PREAPPLICATION DISCUSSIONS  

 

Quality Review Panel (QRP) Comments 

Page 20



  

8.1 The application was presented to the Havering Quality Review Panel on the 

20th May 2020. The following comments were made by the QRP:   

 

- The panel recognises the scheme will be a valuable community facility, one 

that has the potential to enhance an equally valuable asset, Rainham 

Recreation Ground, which is a valuable community resource in its own right. 

However, the current proposals do not yet realise this second opportunity 

and the design team will need to work harder to integrate the building, 

landscape and place if the opportunity is not to be missed. This will require 

an approach that sees the building as part of its setting, not simply in it.  

 

- The panel would like to see the design team revisit the building’s specific 

location within the park, to explore the possibility of locating the building to 

the west side of the park adjacent to the school.  

 

- The panel would like the design team to explore the potential for stacking 

some of the internal uses to create a two-storey building with a smaller 

footprint in the park.  

 

- The panel would like to see greater links between the internal uses of the 

facility and the park beyond, building on the introduction of a window looking 

out from the gym to create a landscaped connection between the interior 

and exterior, so that the view out is as attractive as can be.  

 

- The landscape design should be an important part of this scheme, but 

currently is neglected within the proposals. Used creatively, landscape 

could help to integrate the building with its setting and also be used to create 

more satisfactory level access, rather than the engineered ramp proposed.  

 

- The potential for accessing additional funding to support a high quality park 

landscape should be explored with LBH, including the possibility of drawing 

on grant funding or S106 contributions from nearby development in the 

Beam Park area.  

 

- The current layout and orientation is driven by simple assumptions about 

the internal functions and servicing of the facility, without proper regard for 

its setting. As a consequence, the proposed layout creates pinch points and 

awkward spaces, rather than making best use of the site.  

 

- Currently the rationale for the location of the entrance is unclear, and it is 

hard to make sense of the arrival point. To address this, and to improve the 

building’s relationship with the park, the entrance could be moved to the 

southeast corner, with the internal configuration transposed accordingly.  

Page 21



 

- The panel feels that attempts to reference the smaller, suburban scale of 

Rainham village, rather than the neighbouring superstore, is the right 

approach. However, the attempt to recognise this context in the pitched roof 

has resulted in an overcomplicated solution. The panel would rather see a 

simpler building, using a small palette of local materials without 

unnecessary embellishment, such as the inverted canopy over the 

entrance, with resources diverted to integrating the landscape into the 

scheme.  

 

- There is currently insufficient information, in the form of verified views, to 

make any definitive comment on the impact of the scheme on the 

neighbouring Conservation Area, but providing the building does not intrude 

upon views of the church, it is likely to be acceptable.  

 

Developer Presentation to Strategic Planning Committee (25th June 2020) 

 

8.2  A summary of comments from the Committee Members were as follows:  

 

- Concern over the positioning of the building in relation to Viking Way in order 

to protect the value of the existing open space  

- Should investigate the options to obtain land from the school to minimise 

impact on loss of open space  

- Design needs to be appropriate, high quality and be sympathetic to the site’s 

location near a conservation area  

- Concern over the potential implications for the development of the proposed 

car parking not being in the applicants control  

- Preference for the development to be single storey not two storey in height 

given its location and nearby conservation area  

- Upgrading the land to the south of Viking Way could in part help to off-set 

the loss of open space  

- Do not support the relocation of the Centre adjacent to the school due to the 

adverse impact this would have on the school  

- Proposals should as part of the development consider relocation of the 

existing MUGA  

- Given the sites location on a floodplain the design needs to ensure that this 

issue is fully taken into consideration  

 

8.3 Following these presentations and Members comments, the applicant has 

provided the following response:  

 
 
 
 

Page 22



SPC Comments  
 

Applicant Response 

Concern over the positioning of 

the building in relation to Viking 

Way in order to protect the value 

of the existing open space.  

 

 

The building has been moved further 

back on the site from Viking Way 

compared to the original scheme 

presented during the community 

engagement. Due to the mound near to 

the MUGA this is as far back from Viking 

Way as we can move the centre. We 

have considered other locations for the 

centre on the overall site, and this is 

considered to be the best location. 

 

Should investigate the options to 

obtain land from the school to 

minimise impact on loss of open 

space. 

 

 

 

We have discussed this previously with 

Rainham Village Primary School, and in 

principle they considered that they might 

take this to their Governing Body. We 

can ask them if they are still willing to 

consider this. It should be noted that the 

levels between the Recreation Ground 

and the school site are considerable and 

steep. Investigation as to whether it is 

viable to move the fence line further back 

onto the school site needs to also be 

considered. 

 

Design needs to be appropriate, 

high quality and be sympathetic 

to the site’s location near a 

conservation area; and 

Preference for the development 

to be single storey not two storey 

in height given its location and 

nearby conservation area  

 

We consider that a single storey building 

is more sympathetic to the Conservation 

area. A single storey building is also 

preferred operationally and for 

maintenance. A two storey building 

would be more expensive to build, and 

would require further revenue to 

maintain. 

 

Concern over the potential 

implications for the development 

of the proposed car parking not 

being in the applicant’s control. 

The existing Council managed car park 

is remaining that provides 32 parking 

spaces (including disabled parking 

spaces). There is a S106 agreement that 

allows the Council to manage and 

operate that car park, with access rights 

through the entrance of the Tesco car 

park to the Council car park. There will 

be further conversations with Tesco – 

Page 23



conversations to date have indicated that 

leisure centre users can park in the 

Tesco car park but that if they stay 

beyond 3 hours, they will receive a 

parking ticket. It is hoped that future 

conversations offering Tesco staff a 

corporate rate for membership of the 

new centre will be aligned with an 

agreement that leisure centre users can 

park in the Tesco car park. That has 

certainly been the case in discussions to-

date. 

 

Upgrading the land to the south 

of Viking Way could in part help 

to off-set the loss of open space.  

 

 

This is in our plans, with the current 

proposal to carry the landscaping 

treatment at the front of the centre over 

Viking Way to the area of land opposite. 

We note, and concur, with the need for 

fencing. 

 

Do not support the relocation of 

the Centre adjacent to the school 

due to the adverse impact this 

would have on the school.  

 

 

 

We agree with this having looked at 

various locations on the overall site for 

the centre. 

 

Proposals should as part of the 

development consider relocation 

of the existing MUGA.  

 

 

The proposal is to leave the MUGA in its 

current location. The play equipment will 

be re-located. We propose to hold further 

community engagement with local 

residents to determine the preferred 

location for this. 

 

Given the sites location on a 

floodplain the design needs to 

ensure that this issue is fully 

taken into consideration.  

 

This has been noted by the applicant 

and they have engaged with the 

Council’s drainage officer to ensure that 

the proposal would not have an adverse 

impact.  

 

 
 
 
  

Page 24



9 LOCAL REPRESENTATION 

 

9.1 The application was advertised via a Press Notice and Site Notice displayed at 

the site for 21 days between 04 and 25 November 2020.   

 

9.2  A formal neighbour consultation was also undertaken with 104 neighbouring 

properties being notified of the application and invited to comment. No 

comments have been received to date.   

 

Procedural issues 

 

9.3 No procedural issues were raised in representations. 

 

  

Page 25



10  MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 

 

10.1 The main planning considerations are considered to be as follows: 

 

 Principle of Development 

 Design and Conservation 

 Landscaping and Ecology 

 Inclusive Design 

 Environmental Protection 

 Parking and Highways  

 Energy and Sustainability 

 Flooding and Drainage 

 Community Infrastructure Levy  

 

Principle of Development 

 

10.2 The proposal seeks to build on the green open space of Rainham Recreation 

Ground. Approximately 0.2 hectares of open space would be lost, however the 

proposal seeks to improve the overall leisure offer at this location. The 

recreation ground is designated as Public Open Space, which is protected from 

loss or development by adopted Havering and London Plan policies, except in 

exceptional circumstances. The loss of open space is a significant 

consideration and does therefore need to be carefully assessed in relation to 

planning policy as well as in the overall balance, should there be any factors 

weighing in favour of the proposal. 

 

10.3 In assessing the proposal, it is important to note the background which has led 

to the current planning application. Following closure of the Chafford Sports 

Complex in June 2019, Havering Council has been seeking a new location for 

a leisure centre in the borough. Two sites were identified as feasible to 

potentially accommodate a new leisure centre. One site was the Havering 

College grounds off New Road and the other the current application site.  

 

10.4 The Havering College grounds site was discounted on the basis that it was not 

likely to be available for sale until 2021 and with no guarantees that the Council 

would be the successful bidder. The application site is already under the 

ownership of the Council and there was also potential to benefit from the 

adjoining car park which is operated by the Council.   

 
10.5 Paragraph 97 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that 

existing open space and sports land should not be built on unless: 
 

a) an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open 
space, buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or 

Page 26



b) the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by 
equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable 
location; or 
c) the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the 
benefits of which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use. 

 
10.6 London Plan policy 7.18 (Protecting Open Space & Addressing Deficiency) 

directs that the loss of protected open spaces must be resisted unless 
equivalent or better quality provision is made within the local catchment area. 
Replacement of one type of open space with another is unacceptable unless 
an up to date needs assessment shows that this would be appropriate. 

 
10.7 Havering Core Strategy Policy CP7 (Recreation & Leisure) seeks to: retain 

open space, recreation and leisure facilities; address quantitative and 

qualitative deficiencies in open space and recreational facilities; and improve 

opportunities for creative play and physical activities in open spaces and parks.  

 

10.8 Havering Development Control Policy DC18 (Protection of Public Open Space, 

Recreation, Sports and Leisure Facilities) seeks the retention and 

enhancement of all public open space and recreation, sports and leisure 

facilities that are in private and public ownership. Any proposed loss of public 

open space would need to be robustly justified through demonstration that it is 

surplus to requirements to meet existing or projected future need, together with 

clear and deliverable proposals for improvement to the quality of open space in 

the vicinity or to remedying qualitative and quantitative deficiencies in open 

pace elsewhere in the Borough.  

 

10.9  The site is located within the Specific Site Allocation SSA16 for Rainham 

Central. The Site Allocation directs that any redevelopment within the area 

should ‘Protect and improve the existing open space’.  

 

10.10 In support of the proposal, the applicant has provided the following information 

with regard to open space provision. Overall within the borough there is 7.79 

ha of open space and 3.32 ha of public park provision per 1,000 population. In 

Rainham (and Wennington) there is 8.87 ha of open space and 1.04 ha of public 

park provision per 1,000 population (the aim being 1.84 ha per 1,000). 

 

10.11 This would appear to suggest that Rainham has a low public park allocation, 

however this is misleading as confirmed in an assessment of greenspace needs 

conducted by Atkins for the council. The 13.15 ha parks of The Brettons and 

Hornchurch Country Park are on the border of Rainham and Elm Park, which 

in effect means that Rainham has access of up to 14.19 ha of public park 

provision (per 1,000).  

 

Page 27



10.12 Specifically, Paragraph 5.7 of the Havering Green Spaces, Sport and 

Recreation Study states:  

 

“It should be recognised, however, that ward level comparisons are potentially 

misleading and should be viewed in the context of overall levels of open space 

provision and the pattern of land uses within each ward. For example, Elm Park 

has 13.15ha of public park provision per 1,000 population because the ward 

includes 2 Metropolitan Parks; Site no.45 (The Brettons) and site no. 31 

(Hornchurch Country Park). However, neighbouring Rainham & Wennington 

ward has just 1.04ha of public park provision per 1,000 population. When these 

figures are looked at in isolation, the residents of Elm Park seem to have access 

to far more public park provision than their Rainham & Wennington 

counterparts. However, the 2 Metropolitan parks within Elm Park are located 

on the border between the two wards and so access to these spaces from the 

south of the Elm Park is as adequate as access to these spaces from the North 

of Rainham & Wennington.” 

 

10.13 Knight, Kavanagh and Page undertook an Open Space Assessment Report for 

the Council in November 2016. This report considered the supply and demand 

issues for open space provision across the London Borough of Havering. The 

report identifies that Rainham Marshes (79.19 ha) is not included within the 

amount of quantity of natural and semi-natural greenspace due to its restricted 

access and opening times. Nonetheless, it still does represent a form of 

recreational provision within the local area.  

 

10.14 The application seeks to enhance the current recreational provision by 

maximising usable space. All of the existing provision including outdoor gym 

equipment, children’s play area, MUGA and footpaths will be retained or 

reprovided. The proposal also incorporates a landscape proposal with 

substantial new planting and elements to encourage wider use of the space and 

improve its biodiversity. Some of the proposed elements of the scheme include 

native planting to park boundaries and edges, Viking Way park frontage 

improvements, sensory garden entrance space, community orchard, 

community garden at school entrance, outdoor sports zone, incidental natural 

play opportunities and habitat features, circular paths and routes, grassed 

events space and a children’s play area.  

 

10.15 The applicant has explored different options in finding a location for the leisure 

centre. This also included siting the new building over the Council operated car 

park immediately to the east but this was considered unfeasible due to 

ownership issues. Additionally, building over the car park would result in the 

loss of those car spaces. The loss of approximately 0.2 ha of open space must 

also be considered in the context of other planning considerations such as 

design and conservation. The site sits just outside the historic Rainham village 

Page 28



centre and Rainham Conservation Area. Therefore, the way the height, bulk 

and massing of the building relate to the surrounding townscape and long views 

into the Conservation Area are important considerations, and these matters are 

dealt with in subsequent sections of this report. In order to reduce the footprint 

of the building this would consequently result in a higher building at two-storey 

level that could have a detrimental impact in terms of its relationship with the 

surrounding area. In summary, it is considered that the siting of the building in 

the context of the various surrounding uses and the proposed one-storey height 

and massing is appropriate given the surrounding designations, and as such 

represents an appropriate balance between competing policy considerations 

and minimising the extent of open space loss.    

 

10.16 Additionally, it is considered that the provision of a new leisure centre would be 

a valuable asset for the local community and the extensive landscaping 

proposals to improve the existing offering must also be considered in the 

context of the loss of open space.  

 

10.17 In assessing the loss of open space against national planning policy: 

 

 It is considered that the proposal would not meet the requirements of 

Paragraph 97(a) of the NPPF in that it has not been demonstrated that the 

open space is surplus to requirements. However, this should be seen in the 

context that Rainham has access of up to 14.19 ha of public park provision 

(per 1,000) for the reasons outlined above.  

 

 The proposal does not meet criteria (b) of paragraph 97, in that a similar 

quantity open space is not being provided, given that approximately 0.2 ha 

of open space is to be lost, however this is due to the provision of a new 

leisure facility for the community. However, the NPPF does not require all 

criteria to be met. 

 

 In respect of criteria (c) of paragraph 97, it is considered that the proposal 

for a leisure centre consists of an alternative sports and recreational 

provision as required by the policy. When considered in the context of the 

landscaping proposals to improve the existing park space, retention of 

existing recreational infrastructure and the provision of a valuable local 

asset in the form of the leisure centre, the benefits of the proposal would 

clearly outweigh the existing conditions of the site.   

 

 In conclusion, it is considered that the proposal does accord with paragraph 

97(c) of the NPPF. 

 

10.18 In assessing the loss of open space against London Plan Policy: 

Page 29



 

 Policy 7.18 of the London Plan requires that equivalent or better quality 

provision be provided in the catchment area. In respect of this there would 

be significant improvements to the existing open space via landscaping 

proposals whilst the loss of 0.2 ha would be for recreational purposes in the 

form of a leisure centre. 

 

 The proposed leisure centre and enhanced landscaping proposals could be 

considered to be equivalent or better quality provision, although this is 

largely a matter of judgement as the policy and associated commentary 

give no further guidance on how equivalency or quality should be assessed 

other than to say that one open space should not be replaced by another 

without an up to date needs assessment.  

 

 In conclusion, it is considered that the proposal is partially compliant with 

policy 7.18 of the London Plan. 

 

10.19 In assessing the proposal against Havering Development Plan Policy: 

 

 Similar to paragraph 97 (a) of the NPPF, Policy DC18 allows for loss of 

open space where it is surplus to requirements with an additional 

requirement that any loss be accompanied by improvements in the vicinity. 

Whilst it may not have been demonstrated that the open space is surplus 

to requirements, this should be seen in the context that Rainham has 

access of up to 14.19 ha of public park provision (per 1,000), which 

represents good standards of overall open space provision in the vicinity of 

the site.  

 

 The open space to be lost is due to the provision of a new leisure facility for 

the community and would represent a land use appropriate for the locality 

and comply with the policy provision that priority will be given to other 

recreation/leisure uses.  

 

 The policy states that any loss of open space to a non-recreation/leisure 

use must be accompanied by an improvement to the quality of the open 

space. In this instance there is no loss to a non-recreation/leisure use but 

the proposal is accompanied by extensive landscape proposals to improve 

the existing conditions of the site.    

 

 In conclusion, it is considered that the proposal satisfies the requirements 

of Policy DC18. 

 

Page 30



10.20 In conclusion, the loss of open space proposed is considered to be in 

accordance with national and Havering planning policies, although it is a matter 

of judgement as to whether the London Plan policy expectation is met. If there 

are other factors in favour of the proposal that outweigh the loss of open space, 

and any other harm identified, then this may be determinate in this case. These 

other considerations are covered elsewhere in this report. 

 

Design and Conservation 

 

10.21 The NPPF 2019 attaches great importance to the design of the built 

environment. Paragraph 124 states ‘The creation of high quality buildings and 

places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 

achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates 

better places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable 

to communities’ 

 

10.22 Policies 7.4 and 7.6 of the London Plan state that new development should be 

complementary to the established local character and that architecture should 

make a positive contribution and have a design which is appropriate to its 

context. Policy 7.7 states that tall building should be limited to sites close to 

good public transport links and relate well to the scale and character of 

surrounding buildings, improve the legibility of an areas, have a positive 

relationship with the street and not adversely affect local character.  

 

10.23 Policy DC61 of the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies 

Development Plan Document states that planning permission will only be 

granted for development which maintains, enhances or improves the character 

and appearance of the local area.  

 

10.24 The prominent and exposed location of the application site make all elevations 

of any proposed building highly visible from the public domain. It is considered 

that the height, bulk and massing of the proposed building are considered to 

represent an appropriate response to the townscape context.  The application 

site is located just outside the historic village centre, and the proposed height, 

bulk and massing relates appropriately with its surrounds as the single storey 

nature of the building reduces the visual impact. The saw-tooth roof form helps 

to break down the mass of the building. The flank elevations to the east and 

west have also been articulated in a manner to break down the mass and sit 

comfortably within the context of the historic village. The siting of the building 

has been located appropriately to the eastern part of the site adjacent to the 

Council operated car park allowing for visual separation distances from the 

school to the west and Viking Way to the south and not impacting on the existing 

multi-use games area to the north. As such, it connects successfully with the 

Page 31



public footpath from Viking Way to Upminster Road South that draws 

pedestrians into Rainham village from Tesco and the north. 

 

10.25 The placement of the building entrance to the south-east corner of the building 

provides a better level of activity and interaction with the adjacent public park 

space with natural surveillance, whilst the design of the entrance creates a 

visual interest that breaks up the bulk of the building. This is also enhanced by 

the placement of an outdoor seating area to the east of the building entrance 

as part of the wider landscape proposals. The proposed entrance also 

accommodates the level change to the main entrance within the landscape for 

level access, which is a particularly positive inclusion within the development. 

 

10.26 In terms of materials, the proposal comprises of a simple palette of materials 

that respond to the local context and responds to officer comments made during 

pre-applications discussions. The scheme has also evolved with positive 

changes following the Quality Review Panel in order to address comments that 

were made.  

 

10.27 The materials are considered acceptable for the location, however officers have 

some concerns regarding the use of the timber and references to composite 

panels in the Design and Access Statement. Officers have some minor 

concerns relating to the timber detail to the underside of the eaves in terms of 

its durability and whether this could be employed successfully in the long term. 

Further, some of the submitted documentation makes references to cheaper 

alternatives to charred timber, such as composite panels, and these are unlikely 

to achieve the same effect or quality of appearance, and therefore, use of these 

are not recommended. Nevertheless, samples and specifications of all 

materials are to be agreed via condition should planning permission be granted.  

 

10.28 The site is also in close proximity to the Rainham Conservation Area to the 

south. For the reasons outlined above, it is considered that subject to conditions 

securing a high quality finish the development would preserve the setting of the 

conservation area, including views out of the conservation area and longer 

distance views from the historic village area, as well as the view of the church 

spire from the north.  

 

Landscaping and Ecology 

 

10.29 The application incorporates a wider landscape proposal with substantial new 

planting and elements to encourage wider use of the space and improve its 

biodiversity. Some of the proposed elements of the scheme include native 

planting to park boundaries and edges, Viking Way park frontage 

improvements, sensory garden entrance space, community orchard, 

community garden at school entrance, outdoor sports zone, incidental natural 

Page 32



play opportunities and habitat features, circular paths and routes, grassed 

events space and a children’s play area. The above strategy seeks to improve 

the open area facilities through a combination of retaining existing features and 

incorporating new elements.  

 

10.30 London Plan Policy 5.10 states that development proposals should integrate 

green infrastructure to contribute to urban greening and the public realm. It is 

considered that green infrastructure forms an integral part of the wider 

landscape proposals and as such be in accordance with the above policy.  

 

10.31 Emerging London Plan G5 (Urban Greening) consolidates the current policy 

and also introduces an Urban Greening Factor (UGF) to identify the appropriate 

amount of urban greening in new developments. Until local targets are set by 

boroughs, the London Mayor recommends a target score of 0.3 for 

predominantly commercial developments. In this instance, the proposal would 

have an UGF of 0.39 based on the respective surface cover types.            

 

10.32 Policy DC60 of the Havering Core Strategy and Development Control Policies 

DPD seeks to retain trees of amenity value. An Arboricultural Impact 

Assessment has been submitted with the application that identifies the trees 

and hedges which may be affected by the proposed development.  

 

10.33 Two (2) individual trees, one (1) tree group and a hedgerow would be removed 

as part of the proposals. None of the trees or existing vegetation on or adjacent 

to the site are within a conservation area or protected by a Tree Preservation 

Order. There are also no veteran trees. The loss of the above trees and 

vegetation would be mitigated by the planting of new trees and hedgerow that 

would exceed the total lost. The wider landscape proposals also include 

substantial landscape improvements that will improve the biodiversity value of 

the open space.   

 

10.34 A condition is recommended regarding protection of remaining trees, their 

canopies and roots during construction, as well as a condition for specific 

details relating to the landscape proposals. As such, it is considered that the 

proposal makes adequate provision for the retention and protection of trees and 

for the planting of new trees, in accordance with Policy DC60 of the DPD. 

 

10.35 Policy DC58 of the Havering Core Strategy and Development Control Policies 

DPD seeks protect and enhance designated sites of interest, whilst Policy 

DC59 seeks enhancements to biodiversity as an integral part of new 

development. An Ecological Assessment has been submitted with the 

application that states that the closest designated site to the application site is 

the Ingrebourne Marches SSSI, which lies approximately 40 metres to the 

north. The report highlights that there is the potential for indirect impacts on the 

Page 33



Marshes as a result of surface runoff and dust deposition from the construction 

of the proposed building. Should planning permission be granted there would 

be a condition requiring all drainage details be submitted for approval, while a 

Construction Management Plan would also be sought via condition to mitigate 

against any detrimental impacts.     

 

10.36 The ecological report also recommend a range of enhancements to the 

biodiversity of the site through landscaping, a community orchard, community 

garden, sensory gardens, wildflower meadow and additional hedgerow 

planting, the provision of which would be sought through condition. 

 

10.37 It is considered that the impact on biodiversity is acceptable, in accordance with 

Policies DC58 and DC59 of the DPD. 

 

Inclusive Design  

 

10.38 It is considered that the development has incorporated inclusive design and 

best practice approach to accessibility, with both the building and landscaping 

being designed to be fully inclusive. The proposed single storey building would 

be provided with level access across the whole site, while accessible facilities 

within the leisure centre and a split level reception desk are also provided.  

 

10.39 As such, the proposal would satisfy the requirements of Policy CP17 of the 

DPD.    

 

Environmental Health  

 

10.40 The Council’s Public Protection Team have raised no objections in relation to 

any historical contaminated land issues, air pollution or noise subject to suitable 

conditions.  

 

10.41 The proposed development is located within an area of poor air quality which 

suffers from high concentrations of nitrogen dioxide. Therefore it has been 

designated as an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA). To safeguard against 

additional unnecessary impacts to air quality, conditions are recommended to 

mitigate future impacts during the construction and operational phases of the 

development, including details to protect the internal air quality of the buildings 

as well as a requirement for ultra-low carbon dioxide boilers. 

 

10.42 The submitted Draft Construction Management Plan states that the 

development site has been classed as ‘Low’ risk site, in relation to dust 

emission impacts, however there is no justification for this classification. As 

such, it is considered that a Dust Risk Assessment and Dust Management Plan 

Page 34



are submitted in order to verify whether any mitigation measures would be 

required during the course of construction. This shall be secured via condition.  

 

10.43 Furthermore, the site is located within a 250m radius area of a former 

unlicensed landfill (East of Dovers Corner). In order to minimise any potential 

risks of ground gas migration, it is recommended a condition securing suitable 

gas protection measures to be employed on site be imposed should planning 

permission be granted. 

 

10.44 Finally, with regards to noise considerations, the Councils Public Protection 

Officer has recommended three conditions securing a scheme for the control of 

noise emanating from the site, a scheme for controlling the transmission of 

noise and vibration from any mechanical ventilation system, as well as a 

compliance condition requesting any plant or machinery not exceed appropriate 

noise levels. These conditions are secured in the event planning permission is 

granted.   

 

Parking and Highways  

 

10.45 Policies CP9, CP10 and DC32 require that proposals for new development 

assess their impact on the functioning of the road hierarchy. The overriding 

objective is to encourage sustainable travel and reduce reliance on cars by 

improving public transport, prioritising the needs of cyclists and pedestrians and 

managing car parking. A Transport Assessment has been submitted with the 

planning application as is required for all major planning applications. 

 

10.46 The proposed site would be located in an area close to existing bus routes, a 

mainline rail station, cycle routes and within appropriate walking distances to 

local services. The Transport Assessment confirms that during the busiest peak 

period that traffic movements would generate 42 two-way vehicle movements, 

which over the course of an hour would be a minimal increase in traffic 

compared to existing conditions given its location next to a large food retail 

store. The applicant has provided a Travel Plan with the Transport Assessment 

which is welcomed. This will be secured by conditions with the aim of 

encouraging sustainable methods of transport for staff and visitors.  

 

10.47 Policy DC33 seeks to ensure all new developments make adequate provision 

for car parking. Staff and service user parking, including disabled parking, is 

proposed to be provided within the adjacent Council-operated pay-and-display 

car park located to the west of the site. This car park provides 32 spaces 

including 3 disabled spaces. In addition to the above, as the site is directly 

adjacent to the large Tesco supermarket car park, where 3 hour free public 

parking is available, many leisure users would choose to make use of this free 

parking service, which also removes the need for on-site parking provision. 

Page 35



Given the site’s location within designated Public Open Space, it is considered 

that the above arrangements are appropriate for the proposal as it also removes 

the need to provide for further hardstanding surfaces and parking areas within 

the open space land. No neighbour comments or objections have been 

received on the grounds that the proposed development would lead to 

increased parking pressures within the vicinity.   

 

10.48 The proposed leisure centre would be serviced from the northeast corner via 

the Tesco car park, while a lay-by is proposed on the northern side of Viking 

Way for safe and accessible provision to taxi and bus/coach drop off for school 

groups using the swimming pool. Cycle parking spaces for users and staff has 

been incorporated into the proposal at the entrance of the leisure centre fronting 

Viking Way and changing room facilities for cyclists are contained within the 

centre. The footpaths within the application site area that are used by both 

pedestrians and cyclists have been retained and provide wider connections to 

Rainham Primary School, Ingrebourne River, the London Loop and the wider 

open space network.    

 

10.49 Finally, a Construction Management Plan condition is recommended to be 

attached to ensure neighbouring amenity is safeguarded and the highway 

network is not prejudiced during works. 

 

Energy and Sustainability  

 

10.50 In recognising the importance of climate change and the need to meet energy 

and sustainability targets, as well as the Council’s statutory duty to contribute 

towards the sustainability objections set out within the Greater London Authority 

Act (2007), Policy 5.2 of the London Plan requires all major developments to 

meet targets for carbon dioxide emissions. This is targeted the eventual aim of 

zero carbon for all non-domestic buildings from 2019. The policy requires all 

major development proposals to include a detailed energy assessment to 

demonstrate how the targets for carbon dioxide emissions reduction outlined 

above are to be met within the framework of the energy hierarchy.   

 

10.51 Moreover, the Mayor of London’s SPG on Sustainable Design and Construction 

(2014) provides guidance on topics such as energy efficient design; meeting 

carbon dioxide reduction targets; decentralised energy; how to off-set carbon 

dioxide where the targets set out in the London Plan are not met. 

 

10.52 In terms of Local Plan Policy DC50 (Renewable Energy), there is a need for 

major developments to include a formal energy assessment showing how the 

development has sought to ensure that energy consumption and carbon dioxide 

emissions are minimized applying the principles of the energy hierarchy set out 

in the London Plan.  

Page 36



 

10.53 An Energy Report has been submitted and reviewed by officers. This has been 

undertaken to demonstrate how the development shall reduce the carbon 

emissions by at least 35% over a similar gas heating system in relationship to 

Building Regulations Part L1A 2013 as required by the London Plan. 

Additionally, the approach to sustainable development is to improve the energy 

efficiency of the building beyond the requirements of Building Regulations. This 

follows the most recognised method of achieving sustainability through the 

energy hierarchy.  

 

10.54 The Energy Strategy proposes to reduce the total regulated carbon dioxide 

emissions by a total of approximately 70% when compared with Building 

Regulation Part L. This would exceed the London Plan requirement of reducing 

the development’s overall regulated predicted carbon dioxide emissions by at 

least 35%.  The remaining regulated carbon dioxide emission reductions should 

be met through a legal agreement contribution to the Council’s offset fund in 

order to meet the zero carbon target. In light of this, officers will secure the 

remaining 30% by planning obligation for off-site contributions charged at £60 

per tonne, which amounts to £38,571 in this instance. 

 

10.55 Policy 5.3 of the London Plan seeks that developers utilise the highest 

standards of sustainable design and construction to be achieved to improve the 

environmental performance of new developments. Guidance of how to meet 

the requirements as presented from the above policy is further discussed within 

SPD Sustainable Design Construction (2009). This encourages developers to 

consider measures beyond the policy minimum and centred around 

development ratings, material choice, energy and water consumption. Policy 

5.9 of the London Plan emphasises that major development proposals should 

reduce potential overheating and reliance on air conditioning systems. 

 

10.56 The development incorporates measures to deliver a low carbon and a 

sustainable resource efficient development. A BREEAM Pre-Assessment 

report has been carried out and highlights that the proposed building would 

achieve a ‘Very Good’ rating.  

 

Flooding and Drainage 

 

10.57 Guidance under the NPPF seeks to safely manage residual risk including by 

emergency planning and give priority to the use of sustainable drainage 

systems.  

 

10.58 In order to address current and future flood issues and minimise risks in a 

sustainable and cost effective way Policy 5.12 of the London Plan emphasises 

that new developments must comply with the flood risk assessment and 

Page 37



management requirements and will be required to pass the Exceptions Test 

addressing flood resilient design and emergency planning as set out within the 

NPPF and the associated technical Guidance on flood risk over the lifetime of 

the development. Furthermore, Policy 5.13 of the London Plan stresses that 

development should utilise sustainable urban drainage systems (SUDS) and 

should aim to achieve greenfield run-off rates and ensure that surface water 

run-off is managed as close to its source as possible.   

 

10.59 In terms of local planning policies, policy DC48 emphasises that development 

must be located, designed and laid out to ensure that the risk of death or injury 

to the public and damage from flooding is minimised whilst not increasing the 

risk of flooding elsewhere and ensuring that residual risks are safely managed.  

The policy highlights that the use of SUDS must be considered.  Further 

guidance of how to meet the requirements as presented in the Core Strategy is 

supplemented under LBH’s SPD on ‘Sustainable Design Construction’ 2009 

which encourages developers to consider measures beyond the policy 

minimum and centred on Flood risk. 

 

10.60 Policy DC51 seeks to promote development which has no adverse impact on 

water quality, water courses, groundwater, surface water or drainage systems.  

Whilst policy CP15 (Environmental Management Quality) seeks to reduce 

environmental impact and to address causes of and to mitigate the effects of 

climate change, construction and new development to reduce and manage 

fluvial, tidal and surface water and all other forms of flood risk through spatial 

planning, implementation of emergency and other strategic plans and 

development control policies; whilst having a sustainable water supply and 

drainage infrastructure.   

 

10.61 The application site is located within Flood Zones 2 and 3a. The National 

Planning Practice Guidance classifies leisure facilities as a ‘less vulnerable 

development’ and as such are considered appropriate within Flood Zones 2 and 

3a. The applicant has carried out a Flood Risk Assessment which concludes 

that the application site is at negligible to low risk from all sources of flood risk 

and as such no mitigation measures are required.    

 

10.62 The Council’s drainage and flood officer has been consulted and confirmed that 

further drainage details are required in order for the development to be 

considered acceptable. The applicant’s engineers have noted that the ground 

investigation has shown the site is not suitable for soakaways, mainly due to 

the high ground water table which has been found at 1.8m below ground level. 

Therefore, groundwater monitoring is currently ongoing to confirm this is a 

typical level. A preferred solution agreed by the council’s drainage officer would 

be to divert the highways drainage around the proposed building through the 

park and connect it into the culvert to the north. Owing to the existing 

Page 38



levels/depths of the highway drainage and culverted watercourse, and also the 

unknown upstream catchment, SUDS features such as a swale or pond were 

discounted.  

 

10.63 It was agreed between the council’s drainage officer and the applicant’s 

engineers that if levels in Viking Way can be raised the diversion would be 

designed to work under gravity and to discharge to the watercourse 

unrestricted. If levels do not permit the diversion would include an adopted 

pumping station on the site. It was agreed that technical details would be 

submitted for formal approval by the Council. These are to be secured via the 

imposition of a planning condition.  

 

10.64 At the time of publishing this report, no formal response has been received from 

the Environment Agency (EA). Given the considerations as outlined above, it is 

not envisaged that the EA would raise significant concerns on flooding grounds. 

However, it is recommended that Members resolve to grant planning 

permission subject to no objection being received from the EA. Should an 

objection be received which is not resolved, the application will be reported 

back to this committee for resolution. 

 

10.65 Policy 5.13 of the London Plan states that developments should utilise 

sustainable urban drainage systems (SUDS) unless there are practical reasons 

for not doing so and applicants should aim for greenfield run-off rates. The 

applicant makes provision for SUDs through the use of large areas for 

attenuation. Final details would be secured via condition.   

 

Community Infrastructure Levy 

 

10.66 The Mayor has established a CIL charging schedule with a recent amendment 

that came into force from 1st April 2019. The amendment increases the CIL 

contribution by £5 per square metre to £25. The proposed development would 

be liable for this charge. The development would result in 1,963 square metres. 

Therefore a mayoral levy of £49,075 is applicable.  

 

10.67 The London Borough of Havering’s CIL was adopted in September 2019. The 

proposed use as a leisure facility would be classed as Use Class F2 and would 

fall within the ‘All other development’ category in the Havering CIL Charging 

Schedule. This category is not chargeable and no local CIL would be 

applicable.  

 

11 FINANCIAL AND OTHER MITIGATION 

 

Page 39



11.1 Policy DC72 of the LDF emphasises that in order to comply with the principles 

as set out in several of the Policies in the Plan, contributions may be sought 

and secured through a Planning Obligation. Policy 8.2 of the London Plan 

states that development proposals should address strategic as well as local 

priorities in planning obligations. 

 

11.2 From a sustainability perspective, the proposal is accompanied by an Energy 

Strategy.  The reports outline an onsite reduction in carbon emissions by 70%. 

As the requirements are for 100% reduction, this would result in a shortfall of 

30%. Therefore the Mayors calculation of a financial contribution of £60 per 

tonne in lieu of on-site carbon reduction measures is applicable. In the event of 

an approval and in compliance with the hereby attached conditions a final sum 

will be calculated. The mechanism for this will be secured via a planning 

obligation in a legal agreement in accordance with Policy 5.2 of the London 

Plan. 

 

11.3 In light of the above and discussions in other parts of this report the proposal 

would attract some necessary legal planning obligations to mitigate the impact 

of the development on the wider infrastructure within the Borough.   

 

12 EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY 

 

12.1 Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, which came into force on 5th April 2011, 

imposes important duties on public authorities in the exercise of their functions, 

including a duty to have regard to the need to: 

 

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 

that is prohibited by or under this Act; 

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 

12.2 For the purposes of this obligation the term “protected characteristic” includes:- 

age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion 

or belief; sex; and sexual orientation. 

 

12.3 The proposed development will provide all members of the community with 

access to sport and recreational facilities to encourage active and healthy 

lifestyles to reduce health inequalities. Existing play provision within the 

recreation ground will be maintained which is free and accessible to the 

Rainham community as well as surrounding areas.  

 

Page 40



12.4  As such, the proposed development will improve access to community 

infrastructure for all ages and abilities. Inclusive design has been considered 

with level access. The facility is set over a single storey to ensure it is accessible 

to those with impaired mobility. Outdoor facilities includes an outdoor seating 

area, gym equipment for adults, a children’s playground, multi-use games area 

and community orchards, ensuring the site is accessible to all ages.   

 

12.5 It is considered that there would be no “protected characteristics” that would be 

significantly or unduly harmed by the proposals.  

 

12.6 Therefore in recommending the application for approval, officers have had 

regard to the requirements of the aforementioned section and Act and have 

concluded that a decision to grant planning permission for this proposed 

development will comply with the Council’s statutory duty under this important 

legislation. 

 

12.7 In light of the above, the proposals are considered to be in accordance with 

national regional and local policy by establishing an inclusive design and 

providing an environment which is accessible to all. 

 

13 CONCLUSIONS 

 

13.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) requires 

the Council to determine any application in accordance with the statutory 

development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  All 

relevant policies contained within the Mayor’s London Plan and the 

Development Plan, as well as other relevant guidance and material 

considerations, have been carefully examined and taken into account by the 

Local Planning Authority in their assessment of this application.  

 

13.2 Local residents were invited to give their views on their preferred location for 

the proposed development. Two sites were identified as feasible to potentially 

accommodate a new leisure centre. One site was the Havering College 

grounds off New Road and the other the current application site. Approximately 

two-thirds of respondents preferred the recreation ground.  

 

13.3 The preliminary proposals for the site were subject to consideration by the 

Council’s Quality Review Panel and Strategic Planning Committee and 

comments made in these forums have had input into the development.  

 

13.4 As conditioned, the proposal would not compromise the character of the locality 

or any nearby historic environments or buildings. It accords with the relevant 

development plan policies and conforms to the design principles and 

parameters established by the Council’s policies and the London Plan.  

Page 41



 

13.5 The design of the development is considered appropriate for its location, which 

also provides for a good level of variety and legibility in the built form. The 

materials, layout and building relate well to the surrounding area resulting in a 

development that would be aesthetically pleasing subject to conditions securing 

detailed material elements of suitable quality. 

 

13.6 It is considered on balance that the provision of the new leisure facility on this 

site and the enhancements to the play facilities and to the landscaped 

environment and biodiversity of the park, are such that these benefits to the 

local and wider community sufficiently outweigh the harm resulting from the loss 

of the 0.2ha of public open space. 

13.7 It is considered that in this context, the loss of open space is not in conflict with 

planning policies, or that the conflict does not cause such harm to outweigh the 

benefits of the proposal. It is therefore considered that in this case, the proposal 

does benefit from the presumption in favour of sustainable development set out 

in the NPPF. 

 

13.8 In light of the above, the application is RECOMMENDED FOR APPROVAL in 

accordance with the resolutions and subject to the attached conditions and 

completion of a legal agreement. 

 

 

Page 42



 

 

Strategic Planning 

Committee 

25 February 2020 

 
 

Application Reference:   P1464.20 

 

Location: Napier House and New Plymouth House, 

Dunedin Road, Rainham RM13 8LD 

 

Ward:      South Hornchurch  

 

Description: Section 73 Application (Minor Material 

Amendment) to vary Condition 2 

(Approved Plans) of Planning Permission 

Reference P0751.19 dated 06 April 2020 

for the demolition of existing buildings 

and redevelopment of site comprising a 

number of buildings ranging between 3-

10 storeys, providing 197 residential 

dwellings (Class C3), public and private 

open space, formation of new accesses 

and alterations to existing accesses, 

associated car and cycle parking and 

associated works. The minor material 

amendments sought are to make external 

changes to the external appearance of 

the building, layout and landscaping. 

 

Case Officer:    John Kaimakamis  

 

Reason for Report to Committee: The application is of strategic importance 

and has been submitted in partnership 

with the London Borough of Havering. 

The Local Planning Authority is 

considering the application in its capacity 

Page 43

Agenda Item 8



as local planning authority and without 

regard to the identity of the Applicant. 

 
 

1. BACKGROUND  

 

1.1 The application site is in the south of the Borough within the South Hornchurch 

Ward. It does not fall within a conservation area and there are no listed buildings 

on or adjoining the site. However there are long views towards the Rainham 

Conservation Area which is approximately 360 metres away at its nearest point. 

At present, the site is cleared with all the buildings having been demolished. 

These demolition works were granted permission by virtue of Prior Approval 

permission (F0004.18). 

1.2 The Section 73 application seeks minor material amendments to Planning 

Permission Reference P0751.19 that was granted consent on 06 April 2020 for 

the demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment of site comprising a 

number of buildings ranging between 3-10 storeys and providing for 197 

residential dwellings.  

 

1.3 The minor material amendments sought are to make changes to the external 

appearance of the building, layout and landscaping. They are summarised 

below under the three broad categories. 

 

1.4 Furthermore, since the grant of the original permission and signing of the s106 

legal agreement, there have been some changes to the manner in which the 

scheme is to be brought forward by the various parties involved. As such, the 

applicant has requested as part of the Deed of Variation that all references in 

the legal agreement in so far as requiring the developer to enter into a lease be 

removed, and amendments to the agreement be made to reflect that the land 

transaction is now being carried out by a licence. These amendments to the 

deed are supported.       

 

2 SUMMARY OF KEY REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 

2.1 The proposed amendments to the consented scheme are considered 

appropriate as they maintain the design intent of the consented scheme and 

offer a high quality design. 

2.2 The proposed development is subject to appropriate conditions that were 

previously imposed which seek to facilitate the development and mitigate its 

potential impacts. Obligations and financial contributions that were secured 

towards environmental, infrastructure and services required to facilitate and 

Page 44



also mitigate potential impacts of the proposed development have been 

retained. 

 

3 RECOMMENDATION 

 

3.1  That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to:  

  

 Any direction by the London Mayor pursuant to the Mayor of London Order 

 

 Conditional upon the prior completion of a Deed of Variation pursuant to 

Sections 106A and 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to the 

existing legal agreement of Deed of Planning Obligation made under section 

106 and of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 dated 06 April 2020 

securing the heads of terms as set out below:  

- Affordable Housing 64% to be delivered with a tenure split of 70:30 

between social rent and affordable rent.  

- Affordable housing rent levels secured 

- Early and late Stage Viability Review Mechanisms attached.  

- Linear Park contribution sum of £154,407 to be indexed 

- Carbon offset fund contribution in respect of shortfall of the residential 

units to achieve a 100% reduction in carbon dioxide emissions 

compared to Part L of the Building Regulations 2013, such sum 

calculated at sixty pounds (£60.00) per tonne that falls below the 100% 

threshold, for a period of 30 years, duly Indexed, and the commercial 

units; and in respect of the commercial units to achieve a 35% reduction 

in carbon dioxide emissions compared to Part L of the Building 

Regulations 2013, such sum calculated at sixty pounds (£60.00) per 

tonne that falls below the 35% threshold, for a period of 30 years, duly 

Indexed 

- Job Brokerage 4 per 10,000spm  of development to be indexed 

- Traffic Management contribution of £10,000, Indexed. For the review of 

waiting and loading restrictions on New Road.  

- On-street cycle parking contribution of £15,000 for the provision of cycle 

parking in the vicinity of the site, Indexed. 

- Restriction on obtaining parking permits for occupiers. 

- Controlled Parking Zone contribution £22,064 (£112 per unit) to be 

indexed. 

- Travel Plan (including the appointment of a Co-ordinator) 

- Enter into a Planning Performance Agreement (PPA) with the LPA for 

the discharge of conditions.   

- Reasonable legal fees for the drafting and negotiation of the deed 

whether or not it goes to completion 

Page 45



- Monitoring fee towards the Council costs of monitoring compliance with 

the deed 

- All references in the legal agreement in so far as requiring the developer 

to enter into a lease be removed as the land transaction is now being 

carried out by a licence. 

 

3.2 That the Assistant Director Planning is delegated authority to negotiate the legal 

agreement indicated above and that if not completed by the 25 July 2021 the 

Assistant Director of Planning is delegated authority to refuse planning 

permission or extend the timeframe to grant approval. 

 

3.3 That the Assistant Director Planning is delegated authority to issue the planning 

permission and impose conditions and informatives to secure the following 

matters: 

 

Conditions (to be updated to reflect any details previously approved) 

 

1. Time Limit 

2. In Accordance With Amended Drawings 

3. Material Samples  

4. 90% of the dwellings shall be designed to be Category 2 ‘Accessible and 

adaptable’ and 10% Wheelchair Adaptable Dwellings 

5. Secured By Design 

6. Construction Method Statement  

7. Contaminated Land Investigation  

8. Delivery and Service Plan (TfL) 

9. Details of Boundary Treatments 

10. Remediation Strategy for Contaminated Land 

11. Sound Insulation (Plant noise/Machinery) 

12. Noise protection (A1306) 

13. Refuse/Recycling and Collection Management Plan 

14. Cycle Parking Spaces 

15. Vehicle Cleansing  

16. Construction Hours 

17. Archaeological Investigation  

18. Green/Brown Roof Details 

19. Delivery and Service Plan 

20. External Lighting Scheme 

21. Measures to off-set excess transport emissions 

22. NRMM Register 

23. Noise protection measures (Airborne Noise) 

24. Piling Method Statement (Thames Water) 

25. Photovoltaic Panel Details   

26. Water Target Use – Water Efficiency 

Page 46



27. Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDs) Management Strategy 

28. Flood mitigation, warning and preparation details (GLA) 

29. Surface Water Drainage Strategy   

30. Pedestrian Visibility Splays To Access 

31. Highways Works 

32. Car Parking Management Plan 

33. Electrical Charging Points 

34. Final Floor Levels 

35. Flood Management Strategy 

36. Cycle Parking Management Plan 

37. Road Levels, Footpaths and Landscaped Areas.  

 
Conditions 6, 8, 9, 10, 11, 15, 17, 21, 22, 24, 27, 29 and 37 would contain 
additional wording to reflect details that have previously been submitted and 
discharged and would be deemed sufficient for the purposes of this permission.  
 
Condition 34 would be worded as a compliance condition to reflect the level 
plans submitted under this application.  

 

Informatives 

1. NPPF Positive and Proactive 
2. Secure By Design 
3. Highway Legislation 
4. Changes to the Public Highway  
5. Highway Approval Required 
6. Highway Legislation 
7. Construction Materials on Highway 
8. Cycle Track and Footway Link 
9. Surface Water Management 
10. Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

 

4. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 

 

4.1 The application site is in the south of the Borough in Rainham about 0.6 miles 

from Rainham Station. The application relates to the former residential towers 

known as Napier House and New Plymouth House on Dunedin Road as well 

as the associated car parking area next to New Plymouth House. The site area 

measures 0.79 hectares. The site previously contained a car parking area and 

the two residential towers that are being demolished. Each block was 13-

storeys in height with Napier House having 49 units and New Plymouth house 

having 48 units. As such, there were a total of 97 residential units. The blocks 

dated back to the 1960s and were finished in a mix of brick, concrete, panelling 

and metal to windows/balconies.  

 

4.2 The application site does not fall within a conservation area and there are no 

listed buildings on site. The site falls within flood zone 3 and has a Public 

Page 47



Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) rating of 2. There are no Tree 

Preservation Orders (TPO). 

4.3 The current application seeks amendments to a planning permission that has 

been brought forward via a joint venture partnership between Wates and 

London Borough of Havering. The site already benefits from permission to 

demolish under the prior approval process.  

 

5 PROPOSAL  

  

5.1  The proposal seeks the variation of Condition 2 (Approved Plans) of Planning 

Permission Reference P0751.19 dated 06 April 2020 for the demolition of 

existing buildings and redevelopment of site comprising a number of buildings 

ranging between 3-10 storeys, providing 197 residential dwellings (Class C3), 

public and private open space, formation of new accesses and alterations to 

existing accesses, associated car and cycle parking and associated works. 

 

5.2  The minor material amendments sought are summarised below under the three 

broad categories.  

 

External Appearance  

- Soldier course amendments replacing double soldier course to single soldier 
course band; 

- Omission of shadow gaps to brickwork between duplex homes;  

- Omission of corten steel cladding to cycle store and replacement with 
brickwork;  

- Louvre amendments;  

- Increase in window frame profiles;  

- Windows serving bathrooms omitted;  

- Omission of Juliet balconies to reduce impact of inward swinging doors to be 
replaced with standard openable windows;  

- Addition of a kick plate to balcony balustrading to achieve Building 
Regulations compliance and change to profile to align with new banding 
width;  

- Window and/or Balcony reconfiguration to align to revised Apartment 
Layouts; 

- Removal of glazed side panels to duplex entrance doors;  

- Raised cills to allow a kitchen to sit behind without the need for blanking 
panels in full height windows;  

- Additional windows to serve additional bedrooms following revisions to the 
layout;  

 

 

 

Page 48



Layout  

- Amended car parking layout to include an additional car parking space; 

- Apartment reconfiguration to improve layout:  

- Amendments to cycle store arrangements and locations;  

- Substation and bulk store change:  

- Communications room door moved off-street; and  

- Reduction in the size of the common corridor.  

 

Landscaping  

- Amendment to tree species and location, including removal of 5 no. trees 
along the eastern boundary due to clashes with services beneath;  

- Creation of a ramp in lieu of steps to the duplex units at Building C in order 
to achieve Building Regulation compliance;  

- Creation of a private residential terrace to Building C to suit relocation of 
communal residential entrance;  

- Update to site levels to improve access and use for residents; and  

- Alteration to podium level boundary treatment.  

 

5.3 Since the approval of the original application scheme some of the detail 

required by condition have been approved. In the interest of completeness the 

condition list would be updated to make reference to those approvals. 

Specifically, this relates to Conditions 6, 8, 9, 10, 11, 15, 17, 21, 22, 24, 27, 29 

and 37.  

 

5.4 Additionally, final floor levels sought under Condition 34 would be considered 

as part of the current application as they have been included within the 

submission documents. Should planning permission be granted, the wording of 

Condition 34 is to be varied to reflect these plans.     

 

6 PLANNING HISTORY 

 

6.1 The following planning decisions are relevant to the application: 

  

 F0004.18: Prior Approval for Demolition of Two Tower Blocks Comprising 

Of 1- 49 New Plymouth House & 1-49 Napier House. - Prior Approval Not 

Required, March 2019  

 

 Z0006.18: EIA under Regulation 6 of the Town and Country Planning 

Regulations 2017 for Napier and New Plymouth House. - Screening 

Opinion issued, July 2018  

 

 P0376.14: New Plymouth House removal of existing disused and 

dilapidated pram stores to provide 2 new flats. - Granted, July 2014  

Page 49



 P1541.02: Security lighting columns. Approved, October 2002   

 

 D0058.97: Installation of one equipment cabin and development ancillary. 

Certificate issued, August 1997 

 

 D0047.97: 6x antennae, 3 microwave dishes supported on 6m tower, 

together with 30cu.m cabin. Certificate issued, August 1997   

 

 G0001.97: Proposed roof level radio cabin. Approved, July1997  

 

 P0751.19: Demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment of site 

comprising a number of buildings ranging between 3-10 storeys, providing 

197 residential dwellings (Class C3), public and private open space, 

formation of new accesses and alterations to existing accesses, associated 

car and cycle parking and associated works. Consent granted, 06 April 

2020   

 

7 STATUTORY CONSULTATION RESPONSE 

 

7.1 A summary of consultation response are detailed below: 

 

 Transport for London: No comments.  

 

 Greater London Authority: The GLA have assessed the details of the 

application and concluded that given the scale and nature of the proposals the 

amendments do not give rise to any new strategic planning issues. Therefore, 

under article 5(2) of the above Order the Mayor of London, the application does 

not require any further consultation with the GLA and the Council may proceed to 

determine the application without further reference to the GLA.  

 

 Historic England (GLAAS): No comments are raised as the proposals do not 

affect the archaeological condition relating to the permission.  

 

 Natural England: No comments.  

 

 London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority: LFEPA have 

conformed that no additional hydrants are required and content for works 

at the site to go ahead as planned.  

 

 LBH Environmental Health: No objections in relation to air quality 

matters.  

 

 

 

Page 50

http://lbhappv018:8080/PlanningOfficerModule2/mainapplicationscreen?application=P1541.02


8 LOCAL REPRESENTATION 

 

8.1 The application was advertised via a Press Notice and Site Notice displayed at 

the site for 21 days between 04 and 25 November 2020.   

 

8.2  A formal neighbour consultation was also undertaken with 227 neighbouring 

properties being notified of the application and invited to comment. Comments 

have been received from 1 neighbour.   

 

8.3 The following local groups/societies made representations: 

  

 None.   

 

8.4  The following Councillor(s) made representations: 

 

 None  

 

8.5 The following neighbour representations were received: 

 

 1 objector  

 0 comments.   

 No petitions have been received. 

 

8.6 A summary of neighbour comments is given as follows (as only material 

comments can be considered as part of the application assessment, these 

comments have been divided into “material” and “non-material” comments): 

 

Material Representations 

Objections 

 Building A is within 5 metres of neighbour’s property.  

 Daylight will be restricted to rear of neighbour’s property given tree planting 

and height of 7-storey building. Daylight will also be affected by the 3/4-

storey part of building closest to boundary. 

 Trees planted will overhang into neighbour’s property. 

 First floor podium amenity space will overlook into neighbours property.  

 Refuse is located too close to neighbour.  

 

Support 

 None.  

 

Officer Response: The above objections relate to considerations that were 

assessed during the original planning application. None of the proposed 

Page 51



amendments under this submission would alter the layout or massing of the 

proposed buildings.  

 

Non-material representations 

8.7 Below is a summary of comments received from neighbours that do not 

represent material planning considerations for the determination of the 

application. This is because they fall outside of the remit of planning. This 

includes the marketing of properties, purchases of the properties, neighbour 

disputes and the value of properties. 

 

 None  

Procedural issues 

 

8.8 No procedural issues were raised in representations. 

 

9 MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 

 

9.1  The main issues arising from this proposal relate to:  

 

 Acknowledgement of the scope of what may and may not be considered 

under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

 Nature of the variation and whether the change(s) materially/adversely alter 

the nature of the scheme 

 Any significant material alterations since the original grant of planning 

permission.  

 
Scope of the Consideration of the Case under Section 73 of the T&CPA 

9.2 Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 concerns 
‘Determination of application to develop land without compliance with 
conditions previously attached’. It is colloquially known as ‘varying’ or 
‘amending’ conditions. Section 73 applications also involve consideration of the 
conditions subject to which planning permission should be granted. Where an 
application under s73 is granted, the effect is the issue of a fresh grant of 
permission and the notice should list all conditions pertaining to it. The 
application cannot be used to vary the time limit for implementation. 

9.3 It is important to note that when assessing s73 applications the previously 
granted planning permission is a significant material consideration, which 
impacts heavily on the assessment of the proposal. If the original application 
has been implemented, or if the permission has not yet expired, the applicant 
may go ahead and complete the original approved scheme if they wish. 

9.4 Alterations to planning policy and other material considerations since the 
original grant of planning permission are relevant and need to be considered. 
However, these must be considered in light of the matters discussed in the 

Page 52



previous paragraphs and the applicant’s ability to complete the originally 
approved development. 

 
The Variation 

9.5 Planning Permission Reference No: P0751.19 granted consent for the 
demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment of site comprising a number 
of buildings ranging between 3-10 storeys, providing 197 residential dwellings 
(Class C3), public and private open space, formation of new accesses and 
alterations to existing accesses, associated car and cycle parking and 
associated works. 

 

9.6 The application seeks amendments to the consented scheme, which are to 
make changes to the external appearance of the building, layout and 
landscaping. These have been described in detail in Section 5.2 of this Report.     

Design 

9.7 The NPPF 2019 attaches great importance to the design of the built 
environment. Paragraph 124 states ‘The creation of high quality buildings and 
places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 
achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates 
better places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable 
to communities’ 

9.8 At the regional level, high quality design is central to all the objectives of the 
London Plan and is specifically promoted in chapter 7 policies. These include: 
policy 7.1 which sets out some overarching design principles; policy 7.6 which 
considers building architecture; policy 7.7 which addresses specific design 
issues associated with tall buildings; policy 7.8 which seeks to protect heritage 
assets; policy 7.11 which considers strategic landmarks and wider character; 
and policy 7.4 which considers local character. These objectives are also 
contained within Policies D1, D2, and HC1 of the emerging London Plan.  

9.9 Policy DC61 of the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies 
Development Plan Document states that planning permission will only be 
granted for development which maintains, enhances or improves the character 
and appearance of the local area.  

9.10 The proposal that was granted planning permission consisted of a scheme that 
reflects a contemporary style and comprised 3 building blocks. Block A, (part 1, 
part 3, part 4 and part 7- storeys above street level) would be positioned west 
of the site adjacent to Blewitts Cottages, which is a 2-storey terrace of houses. 
Closest to the boundary, the height would be three-storey to the north and south 
and single storey in between with podium level amenity space, rising to four-
storeys on to Dunedin Road and seven-storeys to New Road. The massing then 
gradually climbs up to Block B (part 1, part 3, part 4 and part 10-storeys above 
street level) positioned in the centre of the site. Block B would sit next to the 
main ground level open space and would be part four/part ten storey fronting 
New Road and part three/four storey to Dunedin Road. To the east of the site, 

Page 53



Block C (part 1, part 3, part 4 and part 9 storey) which would sit next to the 
playing fields of the La Salette School. The building would be part nine/part 
four-storeys to New Road and part four/part three-storeys to Dunedin Road. 

9.11 Under the original planning application that was granted consent, the officer’s 
Strategic Planning Committee Report concluded the following:  

“Careful consideration has been given to the design and massing of the 
residential tower blocks with the majority of the higher parts of the blocks being 
situated away from the two-storey low rise character. The position of the higher 
parts of the blocks being on New Road relate better with the more suburban 
feel of the properties on Dunedin Road where the proposed scale is less. The 
distribution of height and massing throughout the three blocks is well balanced 
and the separation between the three main apartment blocks is considered to 
be suitable. 

The development is sufficiently set back from Dunedin Road to ensure the 
building line relates sensibly to surrounding development, and to prevent an 
overbearing impact upon the streetscene at that elevation. The proposed height 
is comparable to the existing blocks so justifies the scheme at that location. The 
use of the green landscape at ground floor and podium softens the appearance 
of the block massing and allows the development to relate better to the nearby 
playing field and open areas immediately adjacent the site. The change in scale 
between the building blocks creates interest in frontages and works well.”  

9.12 None of the minor material amendments sought under the current S73 
application would alter the scale and massing of the three proposed blocks. 
One of the key minor amendments seeks to swap the previously approved 
bricks for Blocks B and C. The consented scheme proposed brick finishes as 
follows: Block A (Taylor Maxwell Cream brick, Carsington Cream), Block B 
(Bradgate, Medium Grey), Block C (Michelmersh Red brick, First Quality Multi). 
The current proposal changes the brick tone rhythm from ‘light-medium light – 
dark’ to ‘light-dark-medium light’ rhythm so that by placing the darker brick 
within the middle building (Block B) greater contrast is achieved. Given the 
above specified bricks are not being amended and the same quality materials 
are proposed, officers do not raise objections to the colour sequencing, and as 
such the proposal would still adhere to achieving a high quality outcome.  

9.13 Another key minor amendment includes increasing the horizontal banding width 
that wraps around the buildings from 75mm to 150mm and buildability issues 
have been cited by the applicant for this alteration. No objection is raised to the 
principle of altering the banding width as proposed however it is considered that 
it would have been preferable to have a darker banding to the building with the 
dark brick (now Block B) so that it is of a similar tone of the brick and not too 
contrasting. This detail could be secured via the imposition of a condition.  

9.14 The amendments also include a reduction in the recessed brickwork depth from 
100mm to 30mm. The inclusion of a 100mm brick recess within the consented 
scheme was a design detail that contributed to articulating the proposed 
buildings and in particular the flank elevations which consisted of a larger solid 
to void ratio. The effect of reducing this depth would lessen the extent of the 

Page 54



articulation and visibility of the reveals, however, it is considered that the depth 
of reveal proposed to be retained is still sufficient to adequately define the 
windows and articulate the flank elevations, and as such is an acceptable 
amendment.  

9.15 Other key minor amendments include changing the consented double balcony 
doors to single doors (with overall area of glazing maintained), transom heights 
being raised, installation of vents, and changes to the window and balcony 
profiles which would not significantly alter the appearance of the buildings to 
that previously consented or that would result in a detrimental impact on the 
surrounding area.              

9.16 Overall, the proposed development would continue to contribute positively to 
the surrounding area and would enhance the area visually subject to securing 
high quality finish through the details required by condition. 

Quality of Residential Accommodation 

9.17 Policy 3.5 of the London Plan states that new residential units should provide 
the highest quality internal environments for their future residents by meeting 
minimum floor areas in accordance with the Government’s technical housing 
standards set out in Table 3.3. These requirements are also further elaborated 
within the Mayor’s London Housing SPG (Technical housing standards - 
nationally described space standards). Together these form the pivotal 
backbone for the quality of any future residential accommodation. The SPG 
details specific space standards for communal areas, storage, bathroom 
spaces and corridors width. 

9.18 A number of minor amendments are proposed to the layout configuration of the 
residential blocks as outlined above in Section 5.2 of this Report. One of the 
key layout changes proposed is the reconfiguration within the central part of all 
three blocks of certain residential units. This has resulted in the number of 
single aspect units being reduced across the whole scheme. All of these 
consented single aspect residential units were either east or west facing. The 
proposed amendments would not result in any north-facing single aspect units.  

9.19 Additionally, all units under the new reconfiguration would comply with the 
London Plan and the National Technical Housing Standards in terms of overall 
size, storage, communal space and bathroom size. Therefore it is considered 
that all units are of an acceptable quality.  

Parking and Highways Issues 

9.20 Policies CP9, CP10 and DC32 require that proposals for new development 
assess their impact on the functioning of the road hierarchy. The overriding 
objective is to encourage sustainable travel and reduce reliance on cars by 
improving public transport, prioritising the needs of cyclists and pedestrians and 
managing car parking.  

9.21 The consented scheme included car parking at ground floor of all Blocks. Block 
A-B would be linked at ground floor level and make provision for 76 car parking 

Page 55



spaces, while 16 would be provided at Block C. Cycle parking was proposed 
for 355 bicycles. Ten parking spaces have been allocated for disabled parking, 
6 at Blocks A-B and 4 in Block C. 

9.22 One of the minor amendments includes a re-configuration of the car parking 
layout, which has resulted in an additional space being provided under Blocks 
A-B. Consideration of the on-site car parking provision was conducted during 
the originally approved scheme and considered to be acceptable. The current 
proposals would not alter that assessment in any significant manner. 

9.23 The amendments also include changes to the cycle store arrangements and 
their locations however a total number of 355 bicycles stands remains 
unchanged. These would be located at ground floor level and easily accessible 
to future residents. The above changes are minor in scale and would not impact 
on the ability to provide the requisite number of cycle stands proposed.  

Landscaping 

9.24 The development as consented included extensive outdoor green space area 
at podium (first floor) and ground floor levels. In total, this provided for 5250 
square metres of shared amenity space, with an additional 1100 square metres 
of private defensible residential space. These outdoor spaces included a 
comprehensive green landscape strategy that was considered a good level of 
quality.  

9.25 One of the two key amendments includes alterations to the access 
arrangements of the first floor podium amenity space for occupants of Block C. 
The altered access arrangements would still provide for two entrances and be 
adequate for the occupants of Block C.  

9.26 Another of the key amendments is the removal of 5 trees along the eastern 
boundary of the site next to Block C as these have clashed with the provision 
of underground services infrastructure, however they are to be replaced with 5 
new trees elsewhere on the site to the south of Block C. Two other previously 
proposed trees would also be altered in terms of type.  

9.27 The final floor levels of the proposed buildings were sought as details under the 
previously approved consent. These have now been provided under the current 
submission and are considered to be acceptable and not significantly different 
from that originally proposed.  

Planning Obligations, Conditions, Community Infrastructure Levy and 
local finance considerations  

9.28 The conditions of the previous decision notice shall be re-imposed to the 
decision notice.  

9.29 Condition number 1 relates to the timeframe for implementation.  Usually this is 
a 3-year time frame from the date of issue in accordance with Section 91(1)(a) 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). To ensure that an 
extension of time is not granted by the grant of this material minor amendment, 

Page 56



Condition 1 has been reworded to relate to the expiry of the original decision 
notice.  

9.30 Since the approval of the original application scheme some of the detail 
required by condition have been approved. In the interest of completeness the 
condition list would be updated to make reference to those approvals. 
Specifically, this relates to Conditions 6, 8, 9, 10, 11, 15, 17, 21, 22, 24, 27, 29 
and 37.  

9.31  Additionally, final floor levels sought under Condition 34 have been considered 
under this submission and the wording of Condition 34 is to be varied to reflect 
these plans.     

9.32 The original application was subject to a legal agreement to mitigate against 
the impacts of the development. As this application requires the issue of a 
new/fresh planning permission the applicant has agreed to re-apply the agreed 
Heads of Terms of the original legal agreement to the new planning permission. 
This is important as it ensures those obligations originally agreed are met in the 
case of the implementation of the current application. 

9.33 Since the grant of the original permission and signing of the s106 legal 
agreement, there have been some changes to the manner in which the scheme 
is to be brought forward by the various parties involved. As such, the applicant 
has requested as part of the Deed of Variation that all references in the legal 
agreement in so far as requiring the developer to enter into a lease be removed, 
and amendments to the agreement be made to reflect that the land transaction 
is now being carried out by a licence. These amendments to the deed are 
supported.       

9.34 The applicant has also requested the addition of a new clause which states that 
the obligations in the Deed shall relate to and bind any subsequent S73 
permissions in respect of the site. This amendment is not agreed as any 
subsequent S73 permission would be a separate planning permission in itself 
and requires a Deed of Variation or new S106 agreement.  

9.35 The application would be subject to a Deed of Variation to the original section 
106 legal agreement.  

Other Matters 

9.36 This application does not represent an opportunity to revise or reconsider the 
original grant of planning permission under P0751.19. This application only 
relates to the consideration of the variation of condition 2 as set out above.  

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION 

Summary 

9.37 The changes to the consented scheme are considered appropriate as they 
maintain the design intent of the consented scheme and offer a high quality 
design. 

Page 57



9.38 The proposed development is subject to appropriate conditions that were 
previously imposed which seek to facilitate the development and mitigate its 
potential impacts. Obligations and financial contributions that were secured 
towards environmental, infrastructure and services required to facilitate and 
also mitigate potential impacts of the proposed development have been 
retained. 

Conclusion 

9.39 It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to conditions 
and deed of variation to link the application to the s106 legal agreement heads 
of terms for the reasons and details as set out in the resolutions of Section 3 of 
this Report.   

 

 

Page 58



 

 

 

Strategic Planning 
Committee 
25 February 2021 

 

Subject: Quarterly Planning Performance Update 

Report. 

 

Report Author: Simon Thelwell, Head of Strategic 

Development 

 

 
1 BACKGROUND  

  

1.1 This quarterly report produces a summary of performance on planning 

applications/appeals and planning enforcement for the previous quarter, 

October to December 2020. 

 

1.2 Details of any planning appeal decisions in the quarters where committee 

resolved to refuse planning permission contrary to officer recommendation are 

also given. 

 

1.3 The Government has set performance targets for Local Planning Authorities, 

both in terms of speed of decision and quality of decision. Failure to meet the 

targets set could result in the Council being designated with applicants for 

planning permission being able to choose not to use the Council for 

determining the application 

 

 

2 RECOMMENDATION 

  

That the report be noted. 

 

3 QUALITY OF PLANNING DECISIONS 

 

3.1 In accordance with the published government standards, quality performance 

with regard to Major (10 or more residential units proposed or 1000+ sq m 

new floorspace or site area greater than 0.5 hectares), County Matter 

(proposals involving minerals extraction or waste development) and Non-

Major applications are assessed separately. If more than 10% of the total 

Page 59

Agenda Item 9



decisions in each category over the stated period were allowed on appeal, the 

threshold for designation would be exceeded. Due to the fact that 10% of the 

number of non-major decisions made exceeds the total number of appeals, 

there is no chance of designation so the performance against the non-major 

target will not be published in this report, although it will still be monitored by 

officers.  

 

3.2 In December 2020, MHCLG announced that there would be two periods of 

assessment for the purposes of designation: 

- decisions between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2020, with subsequent appeal 

decisions to December 2020 

- decisions between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2021, with subsequent appeal 

decisions to December 2021 

3.3 With regard to the period of decisions between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2020, 

with subsequent appeal decisions to December 2020, the period has passed 

with the final figure at 4.5% appeals allowed for major applications and 0% for 

county matter applications. Therefore the Council is not at risk of designation 

for this period. 

3.4 The current figures for April 2019 to March 2021 are: 
 
Total number of planning decisions over period (to date): 48 
Number of appeals allowed: 1 
% of appeals allowed: 2.1% 
Appeals still to be determined: 4 
Refusals which could still be appealed: 2 
 
County Matter Applications: 
 
Total number of planning decisions over period (to date): 4 
Number of appeals allowed:  0 
% of appeals allowed: 0% 
Appeals still to be determined: 1 
Refusals which could still be appealed: 1 

 

3.5 Due to the low number of decisions that we take that are majors or county 

matters, any adverse appeal decision can have a significant effect on the 

figure. Consequently, it is considered that at this time there is a risk of 

designation. The figure will continue to be carefully monitored. 

 

3.6 As part of the quarterly monitoring, it is considered useful to provide details of 

the performance of appeals generally and summarise any appeal decisions 

received where either the Strategic Planning Committee/Planning Committee 

Page 60



resolved to refuse planning permission contrary to officer recommendation. 

This is provided in the table below. 

 

Appeal Decisions Oct-Dec 2020 
 
Total Number of Appeal Decisions - 44 
Appeals Allowed -    8 
Appeals Dismissed -   36 
% Appeals Allowed -   18.2% 
 
Appeal Decisions where Committee Decision Contrary to Officer 
Recommendation 
 
Total Number of Appeal Decisions - 1 
Appeals Allowed -    1 
Appeals Dismissed -   0 
% Appeals Allowed -   100% 
 

Appeal Decisions Oct-Dec 2020 
Decision by Committee Contrary to Officer Recommendation 

Date of 
Committee 

Application 
Details 

Summary 
Reason for 
Refusal 

Appeal 
Decision 

Summary of 
Inspectors Findings 

Strategic 
Planning 
Committee 
27 June 
2019 

P1292.15 – 23-55 
North Street, 
Romford 
 
Redevelopment, 
including the 
retention of the 
part built 
structure to 
provide a mixed 
use development 
comprising a 6-16 
storey building, 
98 residential 
units, flexible 
uses at ground 
floor. 

Proposal 
would have an 
incongruous 
character and 
appearance 
that is harmful 
to views in and 
out of the 
conservation 
area, 
detracting from 
the urban grain 
and visual 
amenity of the 
area. 

Appeal 
Allowed 

The character of the 
area surrounding the 
site changes 
dramatically over 
small distances and 
reflects the evolution 
of the town over 
time. The proposal 
would be entirely in 
keeping with its 
immediate context. 
The proposal is of 
high quality and 
would enhance the 
appearance of the 
conservation area. 
 

 

 

4 SPEED OF PLANNING DECISIONS  

 

4.1 In accordance with the published government standards, speed of decision 
applies to all major and non-major development applications, with the threshold 
for designation set as follows: 

 

Page 61



 Speed of Major Development (and County Matters) – 60% of decisions within 
timescale (13 or 16 weeks or such longer time agreed with the applicant) 

 
 Speed of Non-Major Development - 70% of decisions within timescale (8 weeks 

or such longer time agreed with the applicant) 
 
4.2 In December 2020 MHCLG announced that there would be two periods 

assessed for the purposes of designation: 
 

- Decisions made between October 2018 and September 2020 
 

- Decisions made between October 2019 and September 2021 
 
4.3 Performance to date on these is as follows: 
  
 October 2018 to September 2020 
 
  Major Development –  82% in time 
 
 County Matter –   71% in time 
 
 Non-Major Decisions -  89% in time 
 

October 2019 to September 2021 (to date) 
 
  Major Development –  83% in time 
 
 County Matter –   50% in time 
 
 Non-Major Decisions -  88% in time 
 
4.4 Based on the above performance, the Council is not at risk of designation for 

the 2 year period that ended in September 2020. The Council is currently at risk 
of designation due to speed of decision in relation to County Matters in the 
current period – however this is based on only two decisions with a nine months 
of decisions to be made. The figure for future periods will continue to be 
monitored. 

 

5 PLANNING ENFORCEMENT 

 

5.1 There are no designation criteria for planning enforcement. For the purposes of 
this report, it is considered useful to summarise the enforcement activity in the 
relevant quarter. This information is provided below: 

 

Oct – Dec 2020 

Number of Enforcement Complaints Received: 109 
 
Number of Enforcement Complaints Closed: 101 
 

Page 62



Number of Enforcement Notices Issued:  22 
 

Enforcement Notices Issued in Quarter 

Address Subject of Notice 

141 Carter Drive, Romford Unauthorised dormer 

14A Hog Hill Road, Romford Change of use to vehicle storage and 
repairs 

21 Yew Tree Gardens, Romford Unauthorised raised platform in rear 
garden 

Units B3, B12, B13 & B14, Suttons 
Business Park, New Road, Rainham 

Unauthorised fence, freezer units, 
containers and storage 

2 Wincanton Road, Romford Unauthorised front/side boundary 
gates/railings 

6 Wincanton Road, Romford Unauthorised front boundary 
gates/railings 

99 Victoria Road, Romford Change of use to vehicle washing 
centre 

100 Havering Road, Romford Unauthorised front/side boundary 
walls/gates/railings 

2 Kingsley Gardens, Hornchurch Unauthorised side extension 

26 Beechfield Gardens, Romford Change of use to HMO 

9 Broadway Parade, The Broadway, 
Hornchurch 

Unauthorised front extensions 

38 St Johns Road, Romford Unauthorised rear extension 

Magnolia, Lambs Lane North, 
Rainham 

Unauthorised front boundary 
walls/gates/railings 

Mystole, Lambs Lane North, 
Rainham 

Unauthorised front boundary 
walls/gates/railings 

176 Mawney Road, Romford Unauthorised seating enclosure and 
canopy to front 

18 Crowlands Avenue, Romford Unauthorised first floor rear 
extension 

48 Heath Drive, Romford Breach of Conditions – No pre-
commencement details submitted 

6 Broadway Parade, The Broadway, 
Hornchurch 

Unauthorised seating enclosure and 
canopy to front 

325 Hilldene Avenue, Romford 1) Change of use to HMO 
2) Use of annexe as self-contained 

residential accommodation 

2D Woburn Avenue, Hornchurch Unauthorised parapet walls and 
wooden overhang 

New Acres, West side Benskins 
Lane, Noak Hill, Romford 

Change of use to residential use as 
a travellers site and associated 
operational development 

 
 
 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 PROTOCOL ON THE OPERATION OF STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETINGS DURING THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC RESTRICTIONS
	5 MINUTES
	Minutes

	6 APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION
	7 P1125.20 - RAINHAM RECREATION GROUND, VIKING WAY, RAINHAM, RM13 9YG
	8 P1464.20 - NAPIER HOUSE AND NEW PLYMOUTH HOUSE, DUNEDIN ROAD, RAINHAM RM13 8LD
	9 QUARTERLY PLANNING PERFORMANCE - UPDATE

